Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: March 28, 2017 REVISED: June 26, 2017 ACCEPTED: June 26, 2017 PUBLISHED: July 10, 2017

Scalar gravitational waves in the effective theory of gravity

Emil Mottola

Nuclear and Particle Physics, Astrophysics and Cosmology, T-2, Theoretical Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Mail Stop B285, P.O. Box 1663, Los Alamos, NM 87545, U.S.A.

E-mail: emil@lanl.gov

ABSTRACT: As a low energy effective field theory, classical General Relativity receives an infrared relevant modification from the conformal trace anomaly of the energy-momentum tensor of massless, or nearly massless, quantum fields. The local form of the effective action associated with the trace anomaly is expressed in terms of a dynamical scalar field that couples to the conformal factor of the spacetime metric, allowing it to propagate over macroscopic distances. Linearized around flat spacetime, this semi-classical EFT admits scalar gravitational wave solutions in addition to the transversely polarized tensor waves of the classical Einstein theory. The amplitude of the scalar wave modes, as well as their energy and energy flux which are positive and contain a monopole moment, are computed. Astrophysical sources for scalar gravitational waves are considered, with the excited gluonic condensates in the interiors of neutron stars in merger events with other compact objects likely to provide the strongest burst signals.

KEYWORDS: Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Models of Quantum Gravity, Effective Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1606.09220





Contents

1	Introduction: effective field theory and quantum anomalies	1
2	The conformal anomaly and low energy EFT of gravity	6
3	Stress-energy of the scalar conformalon	12
4	Linearization around flat space	13
	4.1 Covariant tensor decomposition	13
	4.2 Space + time decomposition and constraints	16
5	Scalar gravitational waves from localized sources	20
6	Energy and power radiated in scalar gravitational waves	25
7	Astrophysical sources of scalar gravitational waves	28
8	Summary and outlook	31

1 Introduction: effective field theory and quantum anomalies

Einstein's classical theory of General Relativity (GR) predicts the existence of gravitational waves, created in significant amounts by collapsing and rotating binary systems [1, 2].¹ Almost a century after this prediction, the Laser Interferometer Gravitational-wave Observatory (LIGO) and LSC collaboration have reported the first direct detection of gravitational waves from the inspiral and coalescence of two intermediate mass black hole candidates of approximately $30M_{\odot}$ each [4].

As this confirmation of classical GR is added to its already impressive successes in the astrophysical domain, quantum field theory (QFT) has also achieved a parallel and even more detailed confirmation in the microscopic domain, culminating in the Standard Model unifying the weak and electromagnetic forces, and the discovery of the Higgs boson [5, 6]. At the most microscopic scales probed by experiment, the fundamental principles of quantum mechanics and special relativistic Lorentz invariance, the twin pillars of QFT, clearly hold.

These successes of classical GR and QFT, each in their respective domains, require that they be brought together in some consistent framework, preserving the main features of each, at least in an approximate sense, and in a quantitatively controllable manner. Absent a unifying synthesis which is able to completely describe and predict phenomena across the broad spectrum of scales from microphysics to cosmology, the best techniques presently at our disposal for a partial union of these disparate theories, with a minimum

¹For a recent review see e.g. ref. [3].

of additional assumptions, are those of Effective Field Theory (EFT) and semi-classical background field methods, such as QFT in curved spacetime.²

Effective Field Theory (EFT) methods have been developed and successfully applied in a number of areas from nuclear and particle physics to condensed matter physics [8–17]. The key hypothesis in the EFT approach is the *decoupling* of short and long distance scales, making possible a description of physics at energies far below an ultraviolet (UV) cutoff scale M by a set of local operators consistent with low energy symmetries. The low energy effective action is constructed by truncating at some finite order the sum of such local terms in increasing numbers of derivatives divided by powers of M, and fixing their coefficients from experiment. The resulting effective theory is expected then to apply to all physical processes with energy-momenta $k \ll M$, or equivalently, at distance scales $\ell \gg M^{-1}$, with an error of the first order of terms in k/M which have been neglected in the derivative expansion. This is a systematic approach, consistent with general QFT principles, relying on the decoupling theorem of ultra-short distance physics at very large energy scales from the low energy, longer wavelength processes of interest [18], which applies to both renormalizable and non-renormalizable effective theories. Indeed every QFT, including also the Standard Model itself may be regarded as an EFT [8–17].

The EFT method can be extended to gravity with no essential difficulty. Classical GR itself is best understood as an EFT for energies much less than the Planck energy $M_{Pl}c^2 = (\hbar c^5/G)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, or on distance scales much greater than the Planck length $L_{Pl} = (\hbar G/c^3)^{\frac{1}{2}} \simeq 2 \times 10^{-33}$ cm. Since the local EFT corrections to the gravitational action involve higher powers of the Riemann curvature tensor and its contractions, these gravitational corrections to classical GR are highly suppressed in the weak field limit of nearly flat spacetime or for distances $r \gg L_{Pl}$ [19, 20]. If these local higher order curvature corrections would be the only possible QFT induced corrections to classical gravity, quantum effects would be entirely negligible and could safely be ignored on macroscopic distance scales, at least if the Einstein Equivalence Principle and metric foundation of GR are rigorously adhered to.

The semi-classical approach to EFT relies on the other hand upon the development of QFT in background curved spacetimes, treating the metric classically (at least at first), while the fields propagating on this classical curved background are allowed to be fully quantum. Since the metric is otherwise arbitrary, QFT in curved spacetime is a particular application of the background field method [21–25], not relying upon any perturbative or local expansion around flat space, static sources or weak gravitational fields. When the quantum fields are completely 'integrated out' in an arbitrary curved background and QFT divergences are either cut off at short distances, or renormalized in the standard way consistent with general covariance, an exact effective action is produced which contains the higher curvature squared terms characteristic of the previous EFT expansion in local invariants. Hence the semi-classical background field method and the EFT method of cataloguing local operators are closely related. However, in integrating over the quantum fields at all scales, the background field method and quantum effective action approach captures one important but somewhat more subtle consequence of QFT easily overlooked

²See e.g. ref. [7] and references therein.

in a more phenomenological Wilsonian EFT expansion in local curvature invariants, namely the generally *non-local* and *infrared* effects of quantum anomalies.

The best known and most instructive example of a quantum anomaly is the axial current anomaly in either QED or QCD. At the classical level the axial current $j^{5\mu}$ is a Noether current whose divergence is expected to vanish in the limit of vanishing fermion mass. As is well known, it turns out to be impossible for any regulator to enforce the conservation of $j^{5\mu}$ at the one-loop quantum level without violating gauge invariance, and a well-defined finite divergence $\partial_{\mu} j^{5\mu} = (N/16\pi^2) F\tilde{F}$ results in a background gauge field $F_{\mu\nu}$ with N massless fermions [26, 27]. This axial current divergence cannot be represented in terms of the original gauge fields by any local effective action. If it could be, there would be the possibility of shifting the coefficient of this term by a suitable constant and cancelling the anomaly. That this is impossible without violating gauge invariance implies that the axial anomaly is a genuine quantum infrared (IR) effect, characterized by a non-local effective action in pure QED or QCD. The IR (or more properly lightcone) implications of the anomaly are confirmed by the appearance of massless poles in anomalous amplitudes, signaling the existence of a low energy massless effective excitation and degree of freedom not present in the original classical Lagrangian [28–30].

Since the $U_A(1)$ symmetry is explicitly broken by the axial anomaly, any local EFT expansion assuming this symmetry will necessarily miss the anomaly and its associated low energy massless excitation. Thus if one adopts a standard Wilsonian EFT approach to low energy meson physics, expanding only in polynomials of local derivatives of the meson fields divided by a characteristic mass scale of the order of $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ or the ρ -meson mass of $M_{\rho} \simeq 770$ MeV, no anomalous $U_A(1)$ contribution will be present. This local EFT is necessarily incomplete, neither correctly predicting the η' pseudoscalar meson mass nor the decay constant of $\pi^0 \to 2\gamma$. Capturing these effects requires adding to the standard local EFT meson Lagrangian an additional term, explicitly breaking the $U_A(1)$ symmetry, in a procedure that has come to be known as anomaly matching [16, 17, 31].

The necessity of modifying the standard EFT approach when quantum anomalies are present becomes clear when keeping track of the scaling dimensions of operators. All infrared relevant operators, scaling with dimensions $d \leq D$ where D = 4 is the physical spacetime dimension must be included in the EFT. Local operators with d > 4 appear divided by d-4 powers of the mass scale, and being suppressed by d-4 powers of k/Mat low energies, are classified as irrelevant in the infrared. Conversely, local operators with d < 4, such as the Einstein-Hilbert action of classical GR (together with a possible cosmological term) are infrared relevant. The case of logarithmic scaling corresponding to the marginal case d = 4 requires special care. Since a logarithm cannot be represented as a local polynomial in k, it corresponds to a non-local term in the effective action in position space. It should be included in the EFT since its low energy effects are not power law suppressed by the UV mass scale M_{ρ} . Logarithmic scaling is exactly the behavior of the marginal operators in the quantum effective action generated by the anomaly [32]. The marginally relevant non-local contribution(s) in the effective action can have important nontrivial effects in the low energy EFT, including the appearance of new massless excitations in correlation functions, as the QED/QCD axial anomalies show [28-30].

Inclusion of non-local operators obtained from the quantum one-loop effects of massless degrees of freedom may still seem counterintuitive from the standard Wilsonian EFT approach, viewed as integrating out only heavy degrees of freedom at mass-energy scales greater than the UV scale M. Reference to the QCD axial anomaly will help to resolve any apparent paradox. In QCD the mass scale of the light u and d quarks is of order 5 to 10 MeV. Since the meson EFT is supposed to be valid up to the much larger UV cutoff scale for $M_{\rho} \simeq 770$ MeV, it follows that there is a large energy range

$$m_{u,d} \ll k \ll M_{\rho} \tag{1.1}$$

for which the light quarks are effectively massless. The decoupling theorem still holds for the very lowest energies $k \ll m_{u,d}$, where all effects of the anomaly are suppressed by at least one factor of $(k/2m_{u,d})^2$, but the existence of mass scales much smaller than the UV cutoff scale M_{ρ} means that anomalous quantum vacuum polarization effects of the light quark loops survive in the meson EFT in the intermediate energy range (1.1), and the term in the EFT due to the axial anomaly matching must be added to the low energy effective Lagrangian in this energy range. Thus even when the fermion masses are non-zero, so that the underlying QFT has no exact chiral symmetry, the anomaly contributions will be present in the range (1.1), where the light quark masses can be neglected.

In the case of gravity the UV cutoff at the Planck scale likewise does not preclude anomalous effects at much lower energies because of the existence of additional light quantum fields which are either exactly massless, such as the photon, or approximately so compared to the Planck scale. Thus over a large intermediate range of energies below the Planck energy scale, semi-classical methods and an EFT approach to gravity including the effects of logarithmally scaling QFT anomalies should apply.

In QFT in curved space the important quantity coupling to gravity is the matter stressenergy tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$. For massless fields conformally coupled to gravity, the stress tensor is classically traceless $T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0$. As in the case of the axial current, the classical conformal symmetry cannot be maintained at the one-loop quantum level without violating another invariance, in this case general coordinate invariance, expressed by the covariant conservation law $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$. Enforcing the latter results in the trace being necessarily non-zero and given by

$$\langle T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} \rangle = b C^2 + b' \left(E - \frac{2}{3} \Box R \right) + b'' \Box R + \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i$$
(1.2)

in a general four dimensional curved spacetime, where

$$E \equiv {}^{*}R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} {}^{*}R^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}R^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} - 4R_{\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta} + R^2$$
(1.3a)

$$C^{2} \equiv C_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}C^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}R^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} - 2R_{\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{3}R^{2}$$
(1.3b)

is the Euler-Gauss-Bonnet integrand and the square of the Weyl conformal tensor respectively. Here $R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ the Riemann curvature tensor, $R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ its dual, and $R_{\alpha\beta}$ and R is the Ricci tensor and scalar. Additional dimension four invariants denoted by \mathcal{L}_i in (1.2) may also appear in the general form of the trace anomaly, if the massless conformal fields in question couple to additional long range fields. For example in the case of massless fermions coupled to a gauge field, there are contributions from the scalar invariants $\mathcal{L}_F = F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$ of electromagnetism or of the strong or electroweak non-abelian gauge fields, with coefficients determined by the β function of the corresponding gauge coupling. Note that these gauge field terms are certainly *not* Planck suppressed.

All the anomaly coefficients b, b', b'' and β_i are dimensionless parameters multiplied by \hbar , and

$$b = \frac{\hbar}{120(4\pi)^2} \left(N_s + 6N_f + 12N_v \right)$$
(1.4a)

$$b' = -\frac{\hbar}{360(4\pi)^2} \left(N_s + 11N_f + 62N_v \right)$$
(1.4b)

are known for any number of free conformal scalars (N_s) , four-component Dirac fermions (N_f) or vectors (N_v) respectively [7, 33–38]. The b'' coefficient in (1.2) is ultraviolet (UV) regularization dependent and can be changed at will or set to zero by the addition of a local R^2 term in the effective action, and hence is not a true anomaly. In contrast, the b and b' terms in (1.2) are independent of the UV regulator, cannot be removed by any local counterterm, and depend on the number of massless fields of each spin, which is a property of the low energy effective description of matter coupled to gravity. Note that b > 0 but b' < 0 for all non-gravitational free fields of spin less than or equal to one.

Since the terms in the quantum effective action of the trace anomaly, cf. eq. (2.14) below, scale logarithmically with distance, they may be regarded as marginally relevant terms in the low energy Wilsonian effective action for gravity, with the b, b' coefficients treated as arbitrary parameters to be fixed by experiment, and to be added to the usual R and Λ terms of the Einstein-Hilbert action in a local EFT expansion in derivatives. From this latter point of view the effective action corresponding to the trace anomaly is a non-trivial extension, or modification of Einstein's classical theory at energies far below the Planck scale, and is hence relevant for macroscopic physics. Unlike most other possible modifications of GR, the extension by a term associated with the conformal anomaly is *required* by known one-loop quantum vacuum polarization effects of light fields in general curved spaces, and being generally covariant is consistent with the Equivalence Principle, at least in its weak sense.

Note also that inclusion of the effects of the trace anomaly does not rely in any way upon the classical Einstein-Hilbert action or the value of the gravitational constant G itself. The Einstein eqs. are not used in deriving (1.2) for an arbitrary classical background metric. As in the case of the QCD axial anomaly, the underlying QFT need not be exactly conformally invariant, or the axial and/or conformal invariance may be spontaneously broken. Notwithstanding any of the fields contributing to b and b' in (1.4) having a finite mass $m \ll M_{Pl}$, their anomalous vacuum contributions to the effective action must still be taken into account for intermediate energies $m \ll k \ll M_{Pl}$, in the low energy EFT of gravity far below the Planck scale [32, 39, 40].

It is this semi-classical EFT, consisting of the usual Einstein-Hilbert action of classical General Relativity together with the quantum effective action generated by the conformal trace anomaly, eqs. (2.14) and (2.18) below, which lead to an additional massless dynamical scalar in the conformal sector, and scalar gravitational waves that propagate over macroscopic distances, that is the main subject of this paper.

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section the effective action of the conformal trace anomaly and the Wess-Zumino consistency condition it satisfies are briefly reviewed in both its non-local and equivalent local form, the latter by the introduction of a scalar field φ , to be called the *conformalon* field. The stress-energy tensor of the scalar conformalon field is given in section 3. The resulting EFT containing both metric and scalar conformalon φ field is linearized around flat spacetime in section 4, and gauge invariant metric variables introduced in both a covariant and a 3 + 1 spacetime splitting, demonstrating the coupling of φ to the conformal part of the metric at linear order. In section 5 the scalar Green's function for φ is used to express the solutions in terms of the strength of localized sources. The energy and power radiated in scalar gravitational waves is computed to quadratic order in the fluctuations and given in terms of the source strength in section 6. Section 7 contains some preliminary estimates of the strength of scalar gravitational waves from astrophysical sources, including the possibility of detection by present or planned gravitational wave antennas. Section 8 contains a Summary of the results and Outlook for future work on the EFT modification of General Relativity by the anomaly effective action.

2 The conformal anomaly and low energy EFT of gravity

The derivation of the effective action encapsulating the trace anomaly (1.2) is straightforward. Introducing the local conformal parameterization of the metric

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) = e^{2\sigma(x)} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu}(x), \qquad \sqrt{-g_x} \equiv \left[-\det g_{\mu\nu}(x)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} = e^{4\sigma(x)} \sqrt{-\bar{g}_x}$$
(2.1)

in terms of an arbitrary fixed fiducial metric $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$, the conformal dependences of the terms in (1.2) are

$$\sqrt{-g} C^2 = \sqrt{-\overline{g}} \overline{C}^2 \tag{2.2a}$$

$$\sqrt{-g}\,\mathcal{L}_i = \sqrt{-\overline{g}}\,\overline{\mathcal{L}}_i \tag{2.2b}$$

$$\sqrt{-g}\left(E - \frac{2}{3}\Box R\right) = \sqrt{-\overline{g}}\left(\overline{E} - \frac{2}{3}\overline{\Box}\overline{R}\right) + 4\sqrt{-\overline{g}}\overline{\Delta}_4\sigma \qquad (2.2c)$$

where the coordinate label x subscript on $\sqrt{-g_x} = \sqrt{-g}$ is generally suppressed when it causes no confusion to do so. All quantities with an overbar are evaluated in the fixed fiducial metric $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$. The fourth order differential operator [32, 41–45]

$$\Delta_4 \equiv \nabla_\mu \left(\nabla^\mu \nabla^\nu + 2R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2}{3}Rg^{\mu\nu} \right) \nabla_\nu = \Box^2 + 2R^{\mu\nu} \nabla_\mu \nabla_\nu - \frac{2}{3}R \Box + \frac{1}{3}(\nabla^\mu R)\nabla_\mu \quad (2.3)$$

is the unique fourth order scalar kinetic operator that is conformally covariant

$$\sqrt{-g}\,\Delta_4 = \sqrt{-\bar{g}}\,\bar{\Delta}_4 \tag{2.4}$$

for arbitrary $\sigma(x)$.

From (2.2) it is clear that of the various terms in the general form of the trace anomaly (1.2), the particular linear combination of the topological density E and $-\frac{2}{3} \Box R$

in (2.2c) plays a special role. It is this linear combination and this combination only whose conformal variation is linear in σ and defines the differential operator Δ_4 . This is a general feature in any even d = 2n dimensional spacetime, as there exists a particular set of local invariants which when added to the Euler-Gauss-Bonnet topological density in any even dimension defines a conformally covariant $(2n)^{th}$ order scalar differential operator operating linearly on σ . All other terms in the general form the conformal anomaly (1.2) are either conformally invariant as (2.2a)–(2.2b) or cohomologically trivial, as is $\Box R$ by itself, in the sense that they can be removed by appropriate local counterterms in the effective action.

If (1.2) is multiplied by $\sqrt{-g}$ the result is the conformal σ variation of a Wess-Zumino effective action

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma_{\rm WZ}}{\delta\sigma}\Big|_{\bar{g}} = \sqrt{-g} \,\langle T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x) \rangle \equiv \mathcal{A} \tag{2.5}$$

which gives rise to the anomalous trace. Because of (2.1) the linear σ dependence in (2.2) is a *logarithmic* scaling with metric distances, which makes Γ_{wz} a marginally relevant effective action. This Wess-Zumino effective action is easily found by inspection of the linear relations (2.2), viz. [41]

$$\Gamma_{WZ}[\bar{g};\sigma] = 2b' \int d^4x \sqrt{-\bar{g}_x} \ \sigma \ \overline{\Delta}_4 \ \sigma + \int d^4x \ \overline{\mathcal{A}} \ \sigma \tag{2.6}$$

$$= b' \int d^4x \sqrt{-\bar{g}_x} \left[2 \sigma \ \overline{\Delta}_4 \ \sigma + \left(\bar{E} - \frac{2}{3} \overline{\Box} \ \bar{R} \right) \sigma \right]_x + \int d^4x \sqrt{-\bar{g}_x} \left[b \ \bar{C}^2 \ \sigma + \sum_i \beta_i \ \bar{\mathcal{L}}_i \ \sigma \right]_x$$

up to conformally invariant terms independent of σ , which being insensitive to rescalings do not generate infrared relevant terms. The action Γ_{WZ} satisfies the Wess-Zumino consistency condition [46, 47]

$$\Gamma_{\rm WZ}[\bar{g};\sigma] = \Gamma_{\rm WZ}[e^{2\omega}\bar{g};\sigma-\omega] + \Gamma_{\rm WZ}[\bar{g};\omega].$$
(2.7)

By its construction the WZ action Γ_{WZ} depends separately on σ and the arbitrary background metric $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ and is therefore not fully generally coordinate invariant. However, owing to (2.7) Γ_{WZ} is a cohomological representation of the group of local Weyl transformations of the metric, and consequently can be expressed as a difference of fully covariant but non-local effective actions evaluated at the metric $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$ and $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}(x)$ [32]. This non-local difference form

$$\Gamma_{\rm WZ}[\bar{g};\sigma] = \mathcal{S}_{\rm anom}^{\rm NL}[g = e^{2\sigma}\bar{g}] - \mathcal{S}_{\rm anom}^{\rm NL}[\bar{g}], \qquad (2.8)$$

is obtained by solving (2.2c) formally for σ , thereby inverting the differential operator Δ_4 , substituting the result into (2.6) and using (2.4). The resulting covariant non-local effective action is given by

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{anom}}^{\text{NL}}[g] = \frac{1}{4} \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g_x} \left(E - \frac{2}{3} \Box R \right)_x \int d^4 x' \sqrt{-g_{x'}} D_4(x, x') \\ \times \left[\frac{b'}{2} \left(E - \frac{2}{3} \Box R \right) + b C^2 + \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \right]_{x'}$$
(2.9)

where $D_4(x, x')$ denotes the Green's function inverse of the fourth order differential operator Δ_4 defined by (2.3), in the sense that

$$\int d^4x' \sqrt{-g_{x'}} \,\Delta_4 \,D_4(x,x')\,\psi(x') = \psi(x) \tag{2.10}$$

for any scalar function $\psi(x)$. The particular Green's function depending on appropriate boundary conditions must be selected by the physical application. In section 5 we solve for the retarded Green's function $D_{4,Ret} \equiv D_R(x,x')$ explicitly with classical retarded boundary conditions in flat space. Similar to the retarded Green's function for the usual second order wave operator \Box in two dimensions, $D_R(x,x')$ is a constant for all points x' within the entire past light cone of x, and the corresponding Feynman propagator grows logarithmically at large distances. This feature allows the effects of the non-local quantum correlations induced by the conformal trace anomaly (1.2), contained in the anomaly effective action to be cumulative and non-negligible at macroscopic distance scales. Adding a $\Box R$ term to (1.2) with an arbitrary $b'' \neq 0$ would add a local R^2 term to the effective action, which affects the UV behavior but which only produces Planck suppressed effects at low energies, without altering the non-local IR contribution (2.9) of the true anomaly.

It bears emphasizing that the anomaly effective action (2.14) is completely distinct from all terms local in the curvature and its derivatives in EFT, as well as any other possible nonlocal but conformally invariant terms that might be generated by integrating out quantum matter fields, in both its logarithmic scaling with distance, and the special role of the Δ_4 operator in producing a particular kinetic energy term for σ . This kinetic energy term in the Wess-Zumino action (2.6) shows that the conformal part of the metric becomes dynamical in the low energy EFT of gravity, whereas it is constrained in classical General Relativity. The covariant non-local form (2.9) of the anomaly effective action shows that the dynamical degree of freedom in the conformal sector is not associated with the Planck scale, quite unlike possible additional degrees of freedom introduced by local higher derivative curvature terms. The effects of such higher local higher derivative terms have been considered in [19, 20], and are suppressed by $(L_{pl}/r)^2$ where r is a typical macroscopic scale. This need not be the case for (2.9), the effects of which are non-local in the invariants including \mathcal{L}_i , and which are not uniformly suppressed by the Planck scale. The effective semi-classical action (2.9)in the gravitational sector, in which b, b' proportional to \hbar appear as parameters, may be regarded as an efficient bookkeeping device to take into account the anomalous vacuum polarization effects of the known light fields in the Standard Model in the gravitational sector, without having to calculate loops containing these light fields in every individual process.

In order to make the scalar excitation associated with the anomaly and its macroscopic consequences manifest in a coordinate independent way, it is convenient to recast the generally covariant non-local effective action (2.9) in local form by the introduction of (at least one) scalar field. Because it is asymmetrical in the invariants E and (C^2, \mathcal{L}_i) , two additional scalar fields would be necessary to render the minimal non-local action (2.9) into a local form [39]. On the other hand, if one adds to (2.14) the Weyl invariant terms necessary to symmetrize the terms in x and x', and complete the square in (2.9), namely

$$\frac{1}{8b'} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g_x} \left[bC^2 + \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \right]_x \int d^4x' \sqrt{-g_{x'}} D_4(x,x') \left[bC^2 + \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \right]_{x'}$$
(2.11)

one obtains the symmetric non-local form of the anomaly effective action

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{anom}}^{\text{NL}}[g] \to \frac{1}{8b'} \int d^4x \int d^4x' \,\mathcal{A}(x) \,D_4(x,x') \,\mathcal{A}(x') \tag{2.12}$$

where the total trace anomaly density \mathcal{A} is given by (1.2) with b'' = 0 and (2.5). Since the anomaly effective action $\mathcal{S}_{\text{anom}}^{^{\text{NL}}}$ is determined only up to Weyl invariant terms in any case, adding Weyl invariant terms such as (2.11) to it does not affect the trace anomaly or (2.8). However adding a term such as (2.11) does change the *tracefree* parts of the stress tensor derivable from the action in (2.9) vs. (2.12), and whether the effective action contains nonminimal Weyl invariant terms such as (2.11) or not can only be determined by explicit calculation in particular QFTs. The results of this paper are insensitive to whether the anomaly action is symmetrized or not.

Assuming for simplicity the symmetrized form (2.12), one can now introduce a single scalar field φ , requiring it to satisfy the linear equation of motion

$$\Delta_4 \varphi = \frac{E}{2} - \frac{\Box R}{3} + \frac{1}{2b'} \left(b C^2 + \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \right) = \frac{1}{2b'} \frac{\mathcal{A}}{\sqrt{-g}}$$
(2.13)

and rewrite the non-local action (2.12) in its equivalent local form

$$S_{\text{anom}}[g;\varphi] \equiv -\frac{b'}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[(\Box\varphi)^2 - 2\left(R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3}Rg^{\mu\nu}\right)(\nabla_{\mu}\varphi)(\nabla_{\nu}\varphi) \right] \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[b'\left(E - \frac{2}{3}\Box R\right) + bC^2 + \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \right] \varphi$$
(2.14)

by using (2.3) and integrating by parts. The advantage of this local form of $S_{anon}[g; \varphi]$ is that free variation with respect to φ yields back its equation of motion (2.13), and is otherwise entirely equivalent to the non-local form (2.12) which is reproduced (up to surface terms) if (2.13) is solved for φ by inverting Δ_4 and the result is substituted into (2.14). The freedom to change the boundary conditions on the Green's function inverse $D_4(x, x')$ of the wave operator Δ_4 by adding homogeneous solutions of this wave operator to $D_4(x, x')$ in the non-local effective action is equivalent to the freedom in the initial data to solve (2.13) for φ in the local form (2.14). The kinetic terms of the local scalar φ in (2.14) are mapped to the massless scalar propagator anomaly poles in the non-local form (2.12), which have been verified explicitly in three-point correlation functions as a necessary consequence of anomalous Conformal Ward Identities of otherwise conformal field theories [28–30, 49].

Note that unlike $\Gamma_{WZ}[\bar{g};\sigma]$, $S_{anom}[g;\varphi]$ depends upon the full physical metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and is therefore fully general coordinate invariant. It is clear that φ is nevertheless very closely related to the conformal factor σ of the metric itself in (2.1). Indeed

$$S_{\text{anom}}[g;\varphi] = -\Gamma_{\text{wz}}\left[g;-\frac{\varphi}{2}\right]$$
(2.15)

so that (2.7) implies

$$S_{\text{anom}}[e^{-2\sigma}g;\varphi] = S_{\text{anom}}[g;\varphi+2\sigma] - S_{\text{anom}}[g;2\sigma]$$
(2.16)

which shows that conformal transformations of the metric are related to linear shifts in the spacetime scalar φ . For this reason and because the identity (2.16) exposes its origin and fundamental relationship to variations of the conformal frame of the metric, φ may be termed the scalar *conformalon* field, which serves to distinguish it from dilatons and dilaton-like fields that arise in other contexts. Because of the fourth order kinetic term the scalar conformalon φ has canonical mass dimension zero, which also distinguishes it from other dimension one dilaton-like fields.

The method of obtaining (2.14) outlined relies upon integrating the trace anomaly eq. (1.2) with the values of the coefficients b, b', β_i dependent upon the underlying QFT content. In that case the scalar conformalon φ does not introduce any genuinely 'new' degrees of freedom, but rather re-expresses in a convenient form certain two-particle correlations present in the underlying QFT vacuum [28–30, 49, 50]. For example, the Casimir effect and vacuum polarization effects in fixed geometries such as the Schwarzschild and de Sitter backgrounds may be computed for a large variety of states for fields of arbitrary spin by use of S_{anom} and its corresponding stress tensor (3.2) [39]. On the other hand, since the *form* of the trace anomaly (1.2) is prescribed by locality of QFT and general coordinate invariance, the effective action (2.9) associated with it may be regarded as a necessary part of the general effective action of low energy gravity, based on dimensional scaling and invariance principles alone. From that perspective the existence of (at least one) scalar field φ coupling to the spacetime metric and satisfying (2.16) is independent of any specific matter field content, and the coefficients b, b', β_i and of (2.11) may be treated as free parameters of low energy gravity, to be determined by experiment.

When (2.14) is added to the usual Einstein-Hilbert term of classical General Relativity

$$S_{\rm EH}[g] = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - 2\Lambda\right) \tag{2.17}$$

we obtain the semi-classical effective action

$$S_{\text{eff}}[g;\varphi] = S_{\text{EH}}[g] + S_{\text{anom}}[g;\varphi]$$
(2.18)

which defines a scalar-tensor low energy effective theory of gravity. Since $\varphi(x)$ is a spacetime scalar field, the trace anomaly action (2.14) is invariant under general coordinate transformations, just as the classical action (2.17) is. As a metric theory that leaves unaltered the direct minimal gravitational couplings of matter through covariant derivatives, the effective action (2.18) is thus consistent with the Einstein Equivalence Principle, by admitting local freely falling Lorentz frames at every point where the non-gravitational laws of physics take on their familiar Lorentz invariant form.

Because the scalar conformalon couples to gauge fields through the $\beta_i \mathcal{L}_i$ terms in the trace anomaly and influences the metric and gravitational interactions through its stress tensor, cf. (3.1) below, certain more subtle violations of the Strong Equivalence Principle

(SEP) are possible in the EFT defined by (2.18). Since the scalar φ is the minimal one required by the general form of the quantum trace anomaly (1.2) and general covariance, the addition of S_{anom} and any violations of the SEP it generates are the minimal ones required by general principles of QFT. In this connection one should note that both the form and the fundamental origin of (2.14) in the correlations of massless quantum fluctuations differ markedly from other scalar-tensor theories, such as Fierz-Jordan-Brans-Dicke (FJBD) theory [51–54]. In particular, the scalar conformalon φ does *not* couple to the full trace of the classical stress tensor of massive matter, as the FJBD scalar does, but only linearly to those dimension four conformal invariants with no dimensionful mass parameters, such as (2.2b), which are dictated by the quantum trace anomaly (1.2) and Wess-Zumino consistency (2.16). Additional self-couplings of φ would generally violate WZ consistency. Since the possible sources for φ in (2.13) are negligibly small in our local neighborhood, this also allows (2.18) to easily pass the stringent solar system tests which constrain the coupling(s) in FJBD theory, as well as the laboratory constraints on other modified gravity theories [55].

The presence of four derivatives in Δ_4 naturally raises questions and potential controversies about unitarity and ghosts in the quantum EFT of (2.14). In the context of the pure anomaly 'free' theory (2.6), quantized on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^3$, the negative norm ghost states are eliminated from the physical spectrum by the diffeomorphism constraints [56, 57]. The proper framework for the resolution of the question of ghosts in the EFT of low energy gravity (2.18) requires making full use of the (four) constraints of diffeomorphism invariance. Because of (2.16), φ mixes with the conformal part of the metric, and the scalar conformalon φ is always partly constrained, as the conformal part of the metric is fully constrained in classical GR, cf. section 4. Since (2.16) forbids adding arbitrary additional non-linear interactions in the conformalon sector, it is only the non-linearity of classical GR itself that prevents the constraints from being solved in closed form, but these non-linear couplings are suppressed in flat space by the weakness of the gravitational coupling G, up to Planck energy scales where the EFT framework is expected to break down. Since in this paper only *linearized* perturbations about flat space are considered, which may be treated by classical methods, with \hbar entering only through the b, b', β_i coefficients of the anomaly, but with the scalar conformation φ taken to be a c-number field, the results do not rely upon quantization of φ , and are independent of questions or concerns about the quantum EFT, unitarity and ghosts, which will be addressed in a separate publication.

In [58] the full effective action (2.18) with a cosmological term was considered perturbatively in linear response around de Sitter space. In that case the higher derivative mode of Δ_4 decouples if one restricts attention to excitations far below the Planck scale, for which the EFT description is valid, but a physical scalar mode of φ with second order kinetic term not present in the classical Einstein theory survives. In this paper this analysis is carried out for the somewhat simpler case of linear perturbations around flat space, with the result that again a single second order physical scalar excitation survives and couples to the metric at low energies, which with positive energy is stable, and is responsible for the new phenomenon of scalar gravitational waves, treated classically in the EFT of (2.18).

3 Stress-energy of the scalar conformalon

Variation of the last form of the anomaly action (2.14) with respect to the metric yields the stress-energy tensor of the scalar conformalon field

$$T_{\mu\nu}[\varphi] \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} S_{\text{anom}}[g;\varphi] = b' E_{\mu\nu} + b C_{\mu\nu} + \sum_{i} \beta_i T^{(i)}_{\mu\nu}[\varphi]$$
(3.1)

where

$$E_{\mu\nu} \equiv -2 \left(\nabla_{(\mu}\varphi) (\nabla_{\nu)} \Box \varphi \right) + 2 \nabla^{\alpha} \left[(\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi) (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\varphi) \right] - \frac{2}{3} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \left[(\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi) (\nabla^{\alpha}\varphi) \right] + \frac{2}{3} R_{\mu\nu} \left(\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi) (\nabla^{\alpha}\varphi) - 4 R^{\alpha}_{(\mu} \left[(\nabla_{\nu})\varphi) (\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi) \right] + \frac{2}{3} R \left(\nabla_{(\mu}\varphi) (\nabla_{\nu})\varphi \right) + \frac{1}{6} g_{\mu\nu} \left\{ -3 \left(\Box \varphi \right)^{2} + \Box \left[(\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi) (\nabla^{\alpha}\varphi) \right] + 2 \left(3R^{\alpha\beta} - Rg^{\alpha\beta} \right) (\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi) (\nabla_{\beta}\varphi) \right\} - \frac{2}{3} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Box \varphi - 4 C^{\alpha}_{\mu}{}^{\beta}_{\nu} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta} \varphi - 4 R^{\alpha}_{(\mu} \nabla_{\nu)} \nabla_{\alpha} \varphi + \frac{8}{3} R_{\mu\nu} \Box \varphi + \frac{4}{3} R \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \varphi - \frac{2}{3} \left(\nabla_{(\mu}R) \nabla_{\nu} \varphi \right) + \frac{1}{3} g_{\mu\nu} \left[2 \Box^{2} \varphi + 6 R^{\alpha\beta} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta} \varphi - 4 R \Box \varphi + (\nabla^{\alpha}R) \nabla_{\alpha} \varphi \right]$$
(3.2)

is the metric variation of the terms proportional to b', both quadratic and linear in φ in (2.14), and

$$C_{\mu\nu} \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} C^2 \varphi \right\} = -4 \nabla_\alpha \nabla_\beta \left(C_{(\mu \ \nu)}^{\ \alpha \ \beta} \varphi \right) - 2 C_{\mu \ \nu}^{\ \alpha \ \beta} R_{\alpha\beta} \varphi$$
(3.3a)

$$T^{(i)}_{\mu\nu}[\varphi] \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_i \varphi \right\}$$
(3.3b)

are the metric variations of the last two b and β_i terms in (2.14), linear in φ . Thus for example,

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{(F)}[\varphi] = \left(-2F_{\mu}^{\ \alpha}F_{\alpha\nu} + \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}F^{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta}\right)\varphi \tag{3.4}$$

for $\mathcal{L} = F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$, which is proportional to φ and the Maxwell stress tensor.

Since the effective action is a coordinate invariant scalar, the stress-energy tensor (3.1) is covariantly conserved

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\ \nu}[\varphi] = 0 \tag{3.5}$$

for any b, b' upon making use of the φ eq. of motion (2.13), and for any β_i , if supplemented by the eqs. of motion for any additional fields coupled through \mathcal{L}_i . It is easily verified that the terms quadratic in φ in (3.2), as well the terms (3.3)–(3.4) are conformally invariant and traceless, so that the total trace of the anomaly stress tensor is obtained from the terms in (3.2) linear in φ , yielding

$$g^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu}[\varphi] = 2b'\,\Delta_4\varphi = b\,C^2 + b'\left(E - \frac{2}{3}\,\Box\,R\right) + b''\,\Box\,R + \sum_i\beta_i\,\mathcal{L}_i \tag{3.6}$$

which reproduces (1.2), by again using the classical eq. of motion (2.13). This relation may also be derived as a direct consequence of Wess-Zumino consistency (2.16).

The stress tensor (3.1) appears as an additional source to the Einstein field equations obtained by varying the full gravitational effective action (2.18) with respect to the metric, which thus become

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G \left(T^{(cl)}_{\mu\nu} + T_{\mu\nu}[\varphi]\right)$$
(3.7)

in the EFT. Here $T_{\mu\nu}^{(cl)}$ denotes the classical stress-energy tensor of all other matter and radiation fields. Thus the semi-classical EFT consists of classical GR supplemented by a well-defined additional conserved stress-energy tensor which encapsulates the vacuum fluctuation and polarization effects associated with the conformal trace anomaly of light or massless quantum fields. The form and value of (3.1) given by (3.2)–(3.4) depend in its tracefree parts quadratic in φ upon the completion of the square by addition of the Weyl invariant terms (2.11). If these Weyl invariant terms are absent from the full effective action, the slightly more complicated two-field effective action and stress tensor of the anomaly given in [39] should be used in place of the tracefree quadratic terms in (3.2) and (3.1).

4 Linearization around flat space

4.1 Covariant tensor decomposition

It is clear that with $\Lambda = 0$ the modified field eqs. (3.7) with (2.13) are satisfied by the vacuum solution $\varphi = 0$ in flat space $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$ with no other sources. An important physical consequence of adding the anomaly action to classical GR can be seen at linearized order around this flat spacetime vacuum solution. The effective action (2.18) expanded to second order in the field fluctuations

$$h_{\mu\nu} \equiv g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu} , \qquad h \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu} \tag{4.1}$$

around the vacuum solution of flat spacetime with $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-+++)$ and $\varphi = 0$ is

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(2)}|_{g=\eta} = \frac{1}{32\pi G} \int d^4x \left\{ \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} \Box h_{\mu\nu} + h \nabla^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} h_{\mu\nu} + (\nabla^{\nu} h_{\mu\nu}) (\nabla^{\alpha} h_{\alpha}^{\ \mu}) - \frac{1}{2} h \Box h \right\} - \frac{b'}{2} \int d^4x \ (\Box \varphi)^2 + \frac{b'}{3} \int d^4x \ (\Box \varphi) \left\{ \Box h - \nabla^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} h_{\mu\nu} \right\}$$
(4.2)

where surface terms have been discarded. The last term in (4.2) shows that there is a mixing between the trace of the metric perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$ and the scalar conformalon φ . Note also that this mixing of φ to the metric perturbation is only through $\Box \varphi$. Thus any scalar perturbations with $\Box \varphi = 0$ are completely decoupled from the metric perturbations at linear order.

One can analyze the coupling between the anomaly scalar with $\Box \varphi \neq 0$ and the linearized metric perturbation in either a covariant or a canonical framework. In a covariant treatment space and time indices are treated on an equal footing, so that Lorentz invariance is manifest, whereas in a canonical treatment spacetime is split into space + time, and true propagating modes containing kinetic terms may be more clearly separated from constrained modes.

Considering first the spacetime covariant decomposition of the metric perturbation

$$h_{\mu\nu} = u^{\perp}_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}v^{\perp}_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}v^{\perp}_{\mu} + \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu}\Box\right)w + \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu}h$$
(4.3)

where $u_{\mu\nu}^{\perp}$ and v_{μ}^{\perp} are transverse and $u_{\mu\nu}^{\perp}$ is traceless in the four-dimensional covariant sense, i.e.

$$\partial^{\mu}u_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} = 0 = \eta^{\mu\nu}u_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \tag{4.4a}$$

$$\partial^{\mu} v_{\mu}^{\perp} = 0 \tag{4.4b}$$

then under the infinitesimal coordinate transformation $x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x)$

where $\xi_{\mu} = \xi_{\mu}^{\perp} + \nabla_{\mu} \zeta$ is also decomposed into transverse and longitudinal components in the same covariant four-dimensional sense. Thus, of the ten independent metric components of the linearized metric perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$ only the subset of

$$u_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \to u_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \tag{4.6a}$$

$$h - \Box w \to h - \Box w \tag{4.6b}$$

consisting of 5 components of a spin-2 tensor field and 1 component of spin-0 scalar field are gauge invariant under coordinate transformations (up to possible zero modes). Accordingly, since the effective action (2.18) is generally coordinate invariant, the equations of motion (3.7) and the second variation (4.2) can depend upon only these 6 gauge invariant metric components. Indeed the Riemann and Einstein tensors, and the Ricci scalar linearized around flat space are respectively

$$\delta R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = \delta R^{(T)}_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} + \delta R^{(S)}_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}u^{\perp}_{\mu\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\partial_{\mu}u^{\perp}_{\nu\alpha} - \partial_{\beta}\partial_{\nu}u^{\perp}_{\mu\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}u^{\perp}_{\nu\beta} \right\} + \frac{1}{8} \left\{ \eta_{\mu\beta}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\alpha} + \eta_{\nu\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\beta} - \eta_{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\beta} - \eta_{\nu\beta}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha} \right\} (h - \Box w)$$
(4.7a)

$$\delta G_{\mu\nu} = \delta G_{\mu\nu}^{(T)} + \delta G_{\mu\nu}^{(S)} = -\frac{1}{2} \Box h_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} + \frac{1}{4} (\eta_{\mu\nu} \Box - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu})(h - \Box w)$$
(4.7b)

$$\delta R = -\frac{3}{4}\Box(h - \Box w) \tag{4.7c}$$

depending only upon the gauge invariant tensor (T) and scalar (S) parts of the linearized metric perturbations (4.6) respectively. Substituting (4.3) into (4.2) gives

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(2)}\Big|_{g=\eta} = \frac{1}{64\pi G} \int d^4x \, u^{\perp\mu\nu} \Box u^{\perp}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{3}{512\pi G} \int d^4x \, (h - \Box w) \Box (h - \Box w) - \frac{b'}{2} \int d^4x \, (\Box \varphi)^2 + \frac{b'}{4} \int d^4x \, (\Box \varphi) \Box (h - \Box w)$$
(4.8)

which is also gauge invariant under linearized coordinate transformations. Thus the gauge invariant scalar metric perturbations $h - \Box w$ couples to and mixes with the conformalon scalar via $\Box \varphi$.

The tensor decomposition (4.3) is useful for separating gauge invariant from gauge noninvariant components of the linearized deviations of the metric from flat space in a Lorentz covariant way. Because the Einstein equations obtained by the full metric variation has ttand ti components which act as four constraints, similar to the Gauss Law constraint on the longitudinal part of the electric field in electromagnetism, not all modes in the covariant decomposition (4.6) are true propagating degrees of freedom. In the pure Einstein theory (b' = 0) the scalar spin-0 metric perturbations $h - \Box w$ and 3 of the 5 polarizations of spin-2 gravitational waves are constrained, so that only the 2 remaining transverse, traceless components freely propagate in classical GR.

The four first order constraints corresponding to the four diffeomorphism gauge degrees of freedom are the tt and ti components of the linearized Einstein eqs. (3.7). The scalar conformalon stress-energy tensor (3.2) in the flat space limit is

$$E_{\mu\nu}\Big|_{\text{flat}} = -2(\nabla_{(\mu}\varphi)(\nabla_{\nu})\Box\varphi) + 2(\Box\varphi)(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\varphi) + \frac{2}{3}(\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi)(\nabla^{\alpha}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\varphi) - \frac{4}{3}(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi)(\nabla_{\nu}\nabla^{\alpha}\varphi) + \frac{1}{6}g_{\mu\nu}\Big\{-3(\Box\varphi)^{2} + \Box\left[(\nabla_{\alpha}\varphi)(\nabla^{\alpha}\varphi)\right]\Big\} + \frac{2}{3}(\eta_{\mu\nu}\Box - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})\Box\varphi \quad (4.9)$$

with

$$T_{\mu\nu}[\varphi]\big|_{\text{flat}} = b' E_{\mu\nu}\big|_{\text{flat}} \quad \text{and} \quad C_{\mu\nu}\big|_{\text{flat}} = 0 \tag{4.10}$$

in vacuo when no other sources are present. Note that (4.9) contains terms both linear and quadratic in φ . The terms linear in φ , (3.7), and the scalar part of (4.7b) give

$$\delta G^{(S)}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4} (\eta_{\mu\nu} \Box - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu}) (h - \Box w) = \frac{16\pi G b'}{3} (\eta_{\mu\nu} \Box - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu}) \Box \varphi$$
(4.11)

or in component form,

$$\delta G_{tt}^{(S)} = -\frac{1}{4} \vec{\nabla}^2 \left(h - \Box w \right) = -\frac{16\pi G b'}{3} \vec{\nabla}^2 (\Box \varphi)$$
(4.12a)

$$\delta G_{ti}^{(S)} = -\frac{1}{4} \partial_t \vec{\nabla}_i \left(h - \Box w\right) = -\frac{16\pi G b'}{3} \partial_t \vec{\nabla}_i (\Box \varphi)$$
(4.12b)

to linear order in $h_{\mu\nu}$ and φ , with the spin-2 tensor part $\delta G^{(T)}_{\mu\nu}$ dependent upon $u^{\perp}_{\mu\nu}$ unaffected. The general solution of the constraints (4.12) in the scalar sector is

$$\frac{1}{8}(h - \Box w) = \frac{8\pi Gb'}{3} \Box \varphi + F(t) + K(\mathbf{x}), \qquad \vec{\nabla}^2 K = 0$$
(4.13)

where F(t) is a function only of time and $K(\mathbf{x})$ is a function only of space, with zero spatial Laplacian. Since the only solution of $\vec{\nabla}^2 K = 0$ which is non-singular everywhere, including spatial infinity, is $K(\mathbf{x}) = const.$, it may be absorbed into F(t), and we may effectively set K = 0 in (4.13).

In the pure Einstein theory (i.e. b' = 0) (4.13) implies that the gauge invariant scalar metric perturbation $h - \Box w = 8F(t)$ contains no local propagating degree of freedom, in the same way that the longitudinal part of the electric field is locally constrained by Gauss' Law $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{E} = \rho$ and is non-propagating in pure electromagnetism (with $\rho = 0$). In that case as well the longitudinal electric field can contain at most a spatially homogeneous mode that is a function only of time: $\vec{E} = \vec{E}(t)$. As is well known in finite temperature field theory, plasmas or generally whenever there is a polarizable fluctuating medium, the fluctuations of the charges in the medium induce through Gauss' law a collective plasmon mode described by a propagating longitudinal electric field [59]. Thus the longitudinal mode of the electric field, completely constrained and non-propagating with fixed sources, becomes propagating in the presence of dynamical charged sources, inheriting the collective dynamics of the sources.

An analogous phenomenon can occur due to quantum fluctuations and anomaly of a charged field in the vacuum, as evidenced for example by the Schwinger model of massless QED in one 1+1 dimensions. Integrating out of the massless fermion field leads to a propagating massive scalar boson equivalent to the longitudinal electric field, classically constrained, which becomes propagating through Gauss' Law and the quantum axial anomaly [50]. In either case the collective mode arises from two-particle correlations of the fluctuating source field (either thermal or quantum).

Eq. (4.13) shows that this phenomenon occurs in vacuo in the EFT of gravity due to the conformal trace anomaly, since the gauge invariant scalar metric perturbations $h - \Box w$, previously constrained to be non-propagating by the classical Einstein eqs. are forced now to follow the *propagating* conformalon scalar field $\Box \varphi$. Since φ satisfies the fourth order eq. (2.13), or

$$\Box^2 \varphi = \Box (\Box \varphi) = -\frac{1}{3} \Box \delta R \tag{4.14}$$

linearized around flat space, it contains two sets of scalar field modes. In fact, as will be shown in the next subsection, the linearized Einstein eqs. also imply $\delta R = 0$ identically at linearized order. Hence of two sets of massless modes in the fourth order eq. of motion for φ , only the one remaining in $\Box \varphi \neq 0$ survives to provide

$$\Box (h - \Box w) = 0 \tag{4.15}$$

with non-trivial propagating scalar gravitational wave solutions, obeying a *second order* wave equation. In the next subsection a non-covariant space + time splitting of the metric perturbations, appropriate for identifying the unconstrained propagating local scalar degree of freedom in a canonical framework is given, in order to verify this conclusion.

4.2 Space + time decomposition and constraints

In order to properly characterize the dynamical propagating degrees of freedom in the EFT of gravity vs. the constrained modes, introduce the non-covariant space + time splitting of

the linearized metric perturbations in the standard Hodge decomposition

$$h_{tt} = -2A \tag{4.16a}$$

$$h_{ti} = \mathcal{B}_i^{\perp} + \vec{\nabla}_i B \tag{4.16b}$$

$$h_{ij} = \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} + \vec{\nabla}_i \mathcal{E}_j^{\perp} + \vec{\nabla}_j \mathcal{E}_i^{\perp} + 2\eta_{ij} C + 2\left(\vec{\nabla}_i \vec{\nabla}_j - \frac{1}{3}\eta_{ij} \vec{\nabla}^2\right) D$$
(4.16c)

adapted from that commonly employed in spatially homogeneous, isotropic cosmological models [58, 60], with $\eta_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$ in Cartesian coordinates of flat \mathbb{R}^3 . The components A, B, C, D are four scalars with respect to the flat spatial metric on \mathbb{R}^3 , the 3-vectors $\mathcal{B}_i^{\perp}, \mathcal{E}_i^{\perp}$ are transverse, satisfying

$$\vec{\nabla}_i \mathcal{B}_i^\perp = \vec{\nabla}_i \mathcal{E}_i^\perp = 0 \tag{4.17}$$

resulting in two independent components each, and $\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} = \mathcal{H}_{ji}^{\perp}$ is a symmetric, transverse, traceless tensor (now in the spatial three-dimensional sense) satisfying

$$\vec{\nabla}_{j}\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} = \vec{\nabla}_{i}\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} = 0 = \eta^{ij}\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp}$$
(4.18)

resulting in two independent polarization components.

In this space + time splitting the four independent linearized coordinate transformations can be similarly decomposed:

$$\xi_t = -T \qquad \qquad \xi_i = \vec{\nabla}_i L + \mathcal{X}_i^\perp \tag{4.19}$$

with \mathcal{X}_i^{\perp} a transverse vector satisfying $\vec{\nabla}_i \mathcal{X}_i^{\perp} = 0$. The linearized coordinate gauge transformation induces the linearized changes in the metric components

$$\begin{array}{ll}
A \to A + \dot{T} \\
B \to B - T + \dot{L} \\
C \to C + \frac{1}{3} \vec{\nabla}^2 L \\
D \to D + L
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{ll}
\mathcal{B}_i^{\perp} \to \mathcal{B}_i^{\perp} + \dot{\mathcal{X}}_i^{\perp} \\
\mathcal{E}_i^{\perp} \to \mathcal{E}_i^{\perp} + \mathcal{X}_i^{\perp} \\
\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} \to \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp}
\end{array}$$
(4.20)

provided the spatial gradients of B, D, T and L are all non-vanishing. Thus

••

$$\begin{split} \Upsilon_A &\equiv A + \dot{B} - \dot{D} & \Psi_i^{\perp} \equiv \mathcal{B}_i^{\perp} - \dot{\mathcal{E}}_i^{\perp} \\ \Upsilon_C &\equiv C - \frac{1}{3} \vec{\nabla}^2 D & \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} \to \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} \end{split}$$
(4.21)

are invariant under linearized coordinate transformations, whenever the spatial dependences of these functions are non-vanishing. In the special case of metric perturbations independent of the spatial coordinate \mathbf{x} , B, D and L may be set to zero. Then only $\Upsilon_C = C$ is gauge invariant, while $\Upsilon_A = A$ is still subject to the gauge transformation $\Upsilon_A \to \Upsilon_A + \dot{T}$, with T(t) independent of the spatial coordinate. The non-zero components of the Riemann tensor can be expressed in the form

$$\delta R_{titj} = \partial_i \partial_j \Upsilon_A - \eta_{ij} \ddot{\Upsilon}_C + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_i \Psi_j^{\perp} + \partial_j \Psi_i^{\perp} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \ddot{\mathcal{H}}_{ij}^{\perp}$$
(4.22a)

$$\delta R_{tijk} = (\eta_{ij}\partial_k - \eta_{ik}\partial_j) \,\dot{\Upsilon}_C + \frac{1}{2} \,\partial_i \left(\partial_j \Psi_k^\perp - \partial_k \Psi_j^\perp\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_k \dot{\mathcal{H}}_{ij}^\perp - \partial_j \dot{\mathcal{H}}_{ik}^\perp\right) \tag{4.22b}$$

$$\delta R_{ijkl} = (\eta_{il} \,\partial_j \partial_k - \eta_{jl} \,\partial_i \partial_k + \eta_{jk} \,\partial_i \partial_l - \eta_{ik} \,\partial_j \partial_l) \,\mathbf{1}_C + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_k \partial_j \mathcal{H}_{il}^{\perp} - \partial_k \partial_i \mathcal{H}_{jl}^{\perp} - \partial_j \partial_l \mathcal{H}_{ik}^{\perp} + \partial_i \partial_l \mathcal{H}_{jk}^{\perp} \right)$$
(4.22c)

from which follow the linearized variation of the Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar

$$\delta R_{tt} = \vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_A - 3 \, \dot{\Upsilon}_C \tag{4.23a}$$

$$\delta R_{ti} = -2 \,\partial_i \dot{\Upsilon}_C - \frac{1}{2} \vec{\nabla}^2 \Psi_i^\perp \tag{4.23b}$$

$$\delta R_{ij} = -\partial_i \partial_j \Upsilon_A - (\partial_i \partial_j + \eta_{ij} \vec{\nabla}^2) \Upsilon_C + \eta_{ij} \dot{\Upsilon}_C - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_i \Psi_j^\perp + \partial_j \Psi_i^\perp) - \frac{1}{2} \Box \mathcal{H}_{ij}^\perp \quad (4.23c)$$

$$\delta R = -2\,\vec{\nabla}^2\Upsilon_A - 4\,\vec{\nabla}^2\Upsilon_C + 6\,\ddot{\Upsilon}_C \tag{4.23d}$$

and the linearized Einstein tensor

$$\delta G_{tt} = -2\,\vec{\nabla}^2\Upsilon_C\tag{4.24a}$$

$$\delta G_{ti} = -2 \,\partial_i \dot{\Upsilon}_C - \frac{1}{2} \vec{\nabla}^2 \Psi_i^\perp \tag{4.24b}$$

$$\delta G_{ij} = (\eta_{ij}\vec{\nabla}^2 - \partial_i\partial_j)(\Upsilon_A + \Upsilon_C) - 2\eta_{ij}\ddot{\Upsilon}_C - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_i\Psi_j^\perp + \partial_j\Psi_i^\perp) - \frac{1}{2}\Box\mathcal{H}_{ij}^\perp \qquad (4.24c)$$

all expressed in terms of the six gauge invariant components (4.21). From (4.24a) it is clear that the *tt* component of the Einstein's eqs., $\delta G_{tt} = 8\pi G \,\delta T_{tt}$ is

$$\vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_C = -4\pi G \,\delta T_{tt} \tag{4.25}$$

for small perturbations about flat space. Since $\delta G_{ij} \to 0$ in the non-relativistic limit for slowly moving weak sources, $\Upsilon_A = -\Upsilon_C$ from (4.24c) becomes the Newtonian potential for quasi-static weak sources. On the other hand for relativistic sources, $\delta G_{ij} \neq 0$ and $\Upsilon_A \neq -\Upsilon_C$ in general.

The quadratic effective action $S_{\rm eff}^{(2)}$ around flat space in the decomposition (4.16) takes the form

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{(2)}\Big|_{g=\eta} = \frac{1}{64\pi G} \int d^4x \left(\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} \Box \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} - 2\Psi_i^{\perp} \vec{\nabla}^2 \Psi_i^{\perp} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int d^4x \left(-2\Upsilon_A \vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_C - \Upsilon_C \vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_C + 3\Upsilon_C \ddot{\Upsilon}_C \right) \\ - \frac{b'}{2} \int d^4x \left(\Box \varphi \right)^2 - \frac{2b'}{3} \int d^4x \left(\Box \varphi \right) \left(-\vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_A + 3\ddot{\Upsilon}_C - 2\vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_C \right)$$
(4.26)

while the linearized Einstein equations become

$$\Box \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} = 0 \tag{4.27a}$$

$$\vec{\nabla}^2 \Psi_i^\perp = 0 \tag{4.27b}$$

$$\vec{\nabla}^2 \Upsilon_C = \frac{8\pi G b'}{3} \vec{\nabla}^2 (\Box \varphi) \tag{4.27c}$$

$$\partial_t \vec{\nabla}_i \Upsilon_C = \frac{8\pi G b'}{3} \partial_t \vec{\nabla}_i (\Box \varphi) \tag{4.27d}$$

$$(\eta_{ij}\vec{\nabla}^2 - \vec{\nabla}_i\vec{\nabla}_j)(\Upsilon_A + \Upsilon_C) - 2\eta_{ij}\,\ddot{\Upsilon}_C = -\frac{16\pi Gb'}{3}\,\vec{\nabla}_i\vec{\nabla}_j(\Box\varphi) \tag{4.27e}$$

since the linearly independent components in the tensor, vector and scalar sectors must be satisfied separately. Note that although the variation of the scalar effective action (4.2)yields the scalar solutions of the linearized Einstein equations (4.27), the latter tensorial equations are more restrictive, and it is only this more restrictive set of solutions of the tensorial eqs. (4.27) that satisfy all the correct linearized constraints of diffeomorphism invariance. The first eq. (4.27a) gives the usual three-dimensionally transverse, traceless, propagating gravitational wave modes, while the second eq. (4.27b) expresses the triviality of the transverse, vector sector in the absence of any rotating sources. The last three eqs. of (4.27) together with (4.14) show the non-trivial coupling of the anomaly scalar into the scalar sector of metric perturbations in the space + time splitting.

Analogously to the covariant analysis in the previous subsection, the constraint eqs. (4.27c) and (4.27d) imply

$$\Upsilon_C = \frac{8\pi Gb'}{3} \Box \varphi + F(t) \tag{4.28}$$

with F some function only of time. When twice (4.27c) is added to the trace of (4.27e) we obtain

$$2\vec{\nabla}^2\Upsilon_A + 4\vec{\nabla}^2\Upsilon_C - 6\ddot{\Upsilon}_C = -\delta R = 0 \tag{4.29}$$

by (4.23d), showing that the Ricci curvature scalar perturbations are constrained to be identically zero at linearized order as a direct consequence of the linearized Einstein eqs. (4.27). As anticipated this then implies that the φ equation of motion (4.14) linearized around flat space becomes

$$\Box^2 \varphi = -\frac{1}{3} \Box \delta R = 0.$$
(4.30)

which is sourcefree in vacuo. Finally (4.29) together with (4.28) and (4.30) imply that

$$\vec{\nabla}^2(\Upsilon_A - \Upsilon_C) = 3\left(\ddot{\Upsilon}_C - \vec{\nabla}^2\Upsilon_C\right) = -8\pi Gb' \,\Box^2\varphi + 3\ddot{F} = 3\ddot{F}.$$
(4.31)

Since the right side of this relation is a constant in space, but the spatial Laplacian $\vec{\nabla}^2$ has no non-singular inverse on constant functions, the only non-singular solutions of (4.31) are those where each of the four different expressions in (4.31) are all vanishing. Thus in addition to (4.30), we find

$$\ddot{F}(t) = 0 \tag{4.32a}$$

$$\Upsilon_A - \Upsilon_C = \dot{\xi}(t) \tag{4.32b}$$

where $\dot{\xi}(t)$ is another arbitrary function of time. This arbitrary function $\dot{\xi}(t)$ may be removed by the residual time coordinate gauge freedom $\Upsilon_A \to \Upsilon_A + \dot{T}$ allowed for spatially homogeneous time reparameterizations, so that choosing $T(t) = -\xi(t)$ fixes

$$\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C = \frac{8\pi Gb'}{3} \Box \varphi + F(t) = \frac{1}{8} \left(h - \Box w \right)$$
(4.33)

with $F(t) = \alpha t + \beta$ at most a linear function of time due to (4.32a), and the last equality follows from (4.13) with K = 0 with F(t) identified as the same function as in the covariant analysis, cf. (4.13).

Thus the solution of the Einstein eqs., the φ equation of motion (4.30) and all diffeomorphism constraints for the gauge invariant scalar potentials imply finally

$$\Box \Upsilon_A = \Box \Upsilon_C = \frac{8\pi G b'}{3} \ \Box^2 \varphi = 0 \tag{4.34}$$

describing true propagating scalar gravitational waves in flat space, arising from the anomaly scalar for $\Box \varphi \neq 0$. The equal gravitational potentials $\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C$ with (4.33) make clear that the gauge invariant and Lorentz invariant scalar metric perturbation $h - \Box w$, constrained in the classical Einstein theory is a bona fide propagating scalar wave mode in the semi-classical EFT. Note that this discontinuous change in the nature of the scalar sector of GR when $b' \neq 0$ is unrelated to the Planck scale and hence unsuppressed at low energies and macroscopic distance scales, and moreover, half of the solutions of (4.30) for which $\Box \varphi = 0$ decouple from the metric perturbations at linear order around flat space.

For completeness we record the relations between the covariant metric decomposition (4.3) and the 3 + 1 decomposition (4.16):

$$u_{tt}^{\perp} = -\frac{4}{3} \frac{1}{\Box^2} (\vec{\nabla}^2)^2 (\Upsilon_A - \Upsilon_C)$$
(4.35a)

$$u_{ti}^{\perp} = \frac{1}{\Box} \vec{\nabla}^2 \Psi_i^{\perp} - \frac{4}{3} \frac{1}{\Box^2} \vec{\nabla}_i \vec{\nabla}^2 \left(\dot{\Upsilon}_A - \dot{\Upsilon}_C \right)$$
(4.35b)

$$u_{ij}^{\perp} = \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} + \frac{1}{\Box} \left(\vec{\nabla}_i \dot{\Psi}_j^{\perp} + \vec{\nabla}_j \dot{\Psi}_i^{\perp} \right) - \frac{2}{\Box^2} \vec{\nabla}_i \vec{\nabla}_j \left(\ddot{\Upsilon}_A - \ddot{\Upsilon}_C \right) + \frac{2}{3} \frac{1}{\Box^2} \left(\vec{\nabla}_i \vec{\nabla}_j - \eta_{ij} \Box \right) \vec{\nabla}^2 \left(\Upsilon_A - \Upsilon_C \right) h - \Box w = 8 \Upsilon_C + \frac{8}{3} \frac{1}{\Box} \vec{\nabla}^2 \left(\Upsilon_A - \Upsilon_C \right)$$
(4.35c)

which show that the scalar wave solution (4.33) with $\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C$ and $\Psi_i^{\perp} = 0$ is pure gauge invariant spacetime scalar $h - \Box w$, and leaves the transverse, traceless gravitational wave sector of the classical Einstein theory, with its 2 gauge invariant propagating polarizations $u_{ij}^{\perp} = \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp}$ unaffected.

5 Scalar gravitational waves from localized sources

Having found that the semi-classical EFT of gravity admits scalar gravitational wave solutions in vacuo for any $b' \neq 0$, which are not present in classical GR, in this section we consider localized sources for these scalar waves, arising from the anomaly stress tensor, and solve the linearized equations with fixed causal (classical retarded) boundary conditions due to these localized sources.

In flat spacetime the eq. of motion (2.13) for the anomaly scalar field φ is

$$\Box^2 \varphi = 8\pi J \tag{5.1}$$

with the source

$$J \equiv \frac{1}{16\pi b'} \frac{\mathcal{A}}{\sqrt{-g}} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \left[E - \frac{2}{3} \Box R + \frac{b}{b'} C^2 + \frac{1}{b'} \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \right] \rightarrow \frac{1}{16\pi b'} \sum_i \beta_i \mathcal{L}_i \qquad (5.2)$$

to be treated as a weak perturbation in the nearly flat space limit. The factor of 8π is inserted in (5.1) for later convenience. The linear equation (5.1) can be solved in terms of the classical retarded Green's function $(\Box^{-2})_{Ret} \equiv D_R$, which in flat spacetime (dropping the subscript 4 on D_4) satisfies

$$\Box^2 D_R(t-t';\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}') = \delta(t-t')\,\delta^3(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}') \tag{5.3}$$

and which is represented by the Fourier integral

$$D_R(t-t';\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}') = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} \int \frac{d^3\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{e^{-i\omega(t-t')} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')}}{\left[-(\omega+i\epsilon)^2 + \mathbf{k}^2\right]^2}$$
(5.4)

with the infinitesimal $\epsilon > 0$ prescription enforcing retarded boundary conditions. Since the second order poles of the integrand at $\omega = \pm |\mathbf{k}|$ are displaced into the lower half complex by this prescription, the ω contour may be closed in the upper half complex plane for t - t' < 0, giving zero, while for t - t' > 0 the ω contour may be closed in the lower half complex plane for plane, yielding the result

$$D_{R}(t-t';\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}') = \int \frac{d^{3}\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')}}{2k^{2}} \left\{ \frac{\sin[k(t-t')]}{k} - (t-t')\cos[k(t-t')] \right\} \theta(t-t')$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dk \frac{\sin[k|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|]}{k|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|} \left\{ \frac{\sin[k(t-t')]}{k} - (t-t')\cos[k(t-t')] \right\} \theta(t-t')$$

$$= \frac{1}{8\pi} \theta(t-t'-|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|) \text{ for } t > t' \quad (0 \text{ otherwise})$$
(5.5)

which vanishes if $t \le t'$, and where eqs. 3.741 (2) and (3) of [61] and have been used.

Thus whereas the usual second order wave operator \Box has a retarded Green's function

$$\frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} \,\delta\big(t - t' - |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|\big) \,\theta(t - t') = -\Box D_R(t - t'; \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}') \tag{5.6}$$

with support only on the past light cone in 3 + 1 spacetime dimensions, the fourth order operator \Box^2 has a retarded Green's function (5.5) with uniformly constant support everywhere within the past light cone. This is similar to the retarded Green's function for the second order wave operator \Box but in 1+1 spacetime dimensions, and results in pronounced

long distance infrared behavior of the conformalon scalar φ . Indeed the solution of (5.1) fixed by these classical retarded boundary conditions is

$$\varphi(t, \mathbf{x}) = 8\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt' \int d^3 \mathbf{x}' D_R(t - t'; \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}') J(t', \mathbf{x}')$$
$$= \int d^3 \mathbf{x}' \int_{-\infty}^{t - |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|} dt' J(t', \mathbf{x}')$$
(5.7)

which does not fall off with large $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|$, and which can even become large without bound for persistent sources. Inspection of (3.2) shows that φ appears only under derivatives, so that these largest infrared effects are removed for localized sources.

Relabeling the point of observation $\mathbf{x} \to \mathbf{r}$, and the integration variable over the spatial extent of the source $\mathbf{x}' \to \mathbf{x}$, the first derivatives of (5.7) are

$$\dot{\varphi}(t,\mathbf{r}) = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} J(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x})$$
(5.8a)

$$\vec{\nabla}_i \varphi(t, \mathbf{r}) = -\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \ \hat{\mathbf{N}}_i \ J(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x})$$
(5.8b)

where

$$\hat{\mathbf{N}}_{i} \equiv \vec{\nabla}_{i} |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}| = \frac{(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x})_{i}}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{t} \equiv t - |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|$$
(5.9)

is the retarded time, the spatial derivatives being taken with respect to \mathbf{r} . The second derivatives of (5.7) are

$$\ddot{\varphi}(t,\mathbf{r}) = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \dot{J}(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x}) \tag{5.10a}$$

$$\vec{\nabla}_i \, \dot{\varphi}(t, \mathbf{r}) = -\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \hat{\mathbf{N}}_i \, \dot{J}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.10b}$$

$$\vec{\nabla}_{i}\vec{\nabla}_{j}\varphi(t,\mathbf{r}) = -\int d^{3}\mathbf{x} \,\frac{\left(\delta_{ij}-\hat{\mathbf{N}}_{i}\hat{\mathbf{N}}_{j}\right)}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{x}|} J(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x}) + \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} \,\hat{\mathbf{N}}_{i}\hat{\mathbf{N}}_{j} \,\dot{J}(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x}) \qquad (5.10c)$$

from which follow

$$\vec{\nabla}^2 \varphi(t, \mathbf{r}) = -2 \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|} \, J(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) + \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \dot{J}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.11a}$$

$$\Box \varphi(t, \mathbf{r}) = \left(-\partial_t^2 + \vec{\nabla}^2\right) \varphi(t, \mathbf{r}) = -2 \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|} \, J(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.11b}$$

$$\Box \dot{\varphi}(t, \mathbf{r}) = -2 \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|} \, \dot{J}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \,. \tag{5.11c}$$

Thus from (4.33) the gauge invariant scalar metric perturbation propagated from a distant localized source is

$$\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C = \frac{1}{8}(h - \Box w) = -\frac{16\pi Gb'}{3} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \; \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|} J(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x})$$
$$\rightarrow -\frac{G}{3r} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \; \mathcal{A}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.12}$$

in the far or radiation zone where $r \equiv |\mathbf{r}| \gg |\mathbf{x}|$.

– 22 –

For time harmonic sources,

$$\mathcal{A}(t, \mathbf{x}) = e^{-i\omega t} \mathcal{A}_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) \tag{5.13}$$

where the Real Part is understood, we have

$$\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{A}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \simeq e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \,\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\exp(-i\omega \hat{\mathbf{r}} \cdot \mathbf{x}) \,\mathcal{A}_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) \equiv e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \,\tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\omega|\hat{\mathbf{r}}) \tag{5.14}$$

in the far radiation zone, and therefore from (5.12),

$$\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C = -\frac{G}{3r} e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \exp(-i\omega \hat{\mathbf{r}} \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, \mathcal{A}_\omega(\mathbf{x}) = -\frac{G}{3r} e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \, \mathcal{A}(\omega|\hat{\mathbf{r}})$$
(5.15)

which has the form of an outgoing spherical scalar gravitational wave.

This result is to be compared with the linearized metric perturbation of transverse, traceless gravitational waves

$$\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp}(t,\mathbf{r}) = 4G \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{x}|} T_{ij}^{\perp}(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x})$$

$$\rightarrow \frac{4G}{r} \Pi_{ij}{}^{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}) \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} T_{lm}(t-r+\hat{\mathbf{r}}\cdot\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x})$$

$$= \frac{2G}{r} \Pi_{ij}{}^{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}) \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} \mathbf{x}_{l} \mathbf{x}_{m} \ddot{T}^{tt}(t-r+\hat{\mathbf{r}}\cdot\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x})$$
(5.16)

in the radiation zone, where

$$\Pi_{ij}{}^{lm}(\mathbf{\hat{r}}) = \frac{1}{2} \Big(\delta_i{}^l \delta_j{}^m + \delta_i{}^m \delta_j{}^l + \mathbf{\hat{r}}_i \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}_j \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}^l \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}^m - \eta_{ij} \eta^{lm} + \eta_{ij} \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}^l \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}^m + \eta^{lm} \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}_i \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}_j - \delta_i{}^l \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}_j \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}^m - \delta_j{}^m \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}_i \, \mathbf{\hat{r}}^l \Big)$$
(5.17)

is the projector onto transverse, traceless tensors. For a time harmonic source

$$\mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp}(t,\mathbf{r}) = -\frac{2G\omega^2}{r} e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \Pi_{ij}{}^{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}) \int d^3\mathbf{x} \exp(-i\omega\hat{\mathbf{r}}\cdot\mathbf{x}) \,\mathbf{x}_l \,\mathbf{x}_m \, T_{\omega}^{tt}(\mathbf{x})$$
$$\simeq -\frac{2G\omega^2}{r} e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \,\Pi_{ij}{}^{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}) \, \mathbb{Q}_{lm}(\omega)$$
(5.18)

in the quadrupole approximation, where the exponential factor in the integral in (5.18) is replaced by unity, valid if $\omega a/c \ll 1$ for slow moving non-relativistic sources of spatial extent a, and where

$$\mathbb{Q}_{lm}(\omega) = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \mathbf{x}_l \, \mathbf{x}_m \, T^{tt}_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) \tag{5.19}$$

is the Fourier component of the source quadrupole moment.

Thus whereas the source for electromagnetic radiation is the time varying current transverse to the line of sight, whose first non-vanishing multipole is the dipole term, and the source for transverse, traceless gravitational radiation in classical GR is the time varying transverse stress-energy whose first non-vanishing multipole is the quadrupole term (5.19), the source for the scalar gravitational wave in (5.12)–(5.15) is the trace anomaly \mathcal{A} , which

receives a contribution from its monopole term in the expansion of the exponent in (5.15). Due to the decoupling of the anomaly gauge field sources when $\omega_k < m_e$ (QED) or $\omega_k < m_{u,d}$ (QCD) an effective lower threshold for space and time variation of these sources is introduced for scalar monopole radiation. As shown below and in the next section, the Riemann tensor and power radiated in scalar gravitational radiation are proportional to ω^2 .

The linearized perturbation of the Riemann tensor corresponding to the scalar gravitational wave (5.15) may be computed with the help of (4.7a) to be

$$\delta R^{(\mathcal{A})}_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = \left\{ \eta_{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\beta} + \eta_{\nu\beta}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha} - \eta_{\mu\beta}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\alpha} - \eta_{\nu\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\beta} \right\} \frac{G}{3r} \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{A}(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x})$$
$$\rightarrow \frac{G}{3r} \left\{ \eta_{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\beta} + \eta_{\nu\beta}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha} - \eta_{\mu\beta}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\alpha} - \eta_{\nu\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\beta} \right\} \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{A}(\tilde{t},\mathbf{x}) \quad (5.20)$$

in the far region where the terms dropped by neglecting the effect of the derivatives upon 1/r fall off faster than 1/r as $r \to \infty$. In this region because of the dependence of the integrand on the retarded time $\tilde{t} = t - |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{x}|$, one can also make the replacement $\nabla_i \to -\hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \partial_t$. From (5.20) the components of the Riemann tensor perturbation then become

$$\delta R_{itjt}^{(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{G}{3r} \left(\eta_{ij} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \hat{\mathbf{r}}_j \right) \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \vec{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x})$$
(5.21a)

$$\delta R_{ijkt}^{(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{G}{3r} \left(\eta_{ik} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_j - \eta_{jk} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \right) \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \ddot{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x})$$
(5.21b)

$$\delta R_{ijkl}^{(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{G}{3r} \left(\eta_{ik} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_j \hat{\mathbf{r}}_l + \eta_{jl} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \hat{\mathbf{r}}_k - \eta_{il} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_j \hat{\mathbf{r}}_k - \eta_{jk} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \hat{\mathbf{r}}_l \right) \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \ddot{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.21c}$$

in the far field region, whereas the linearized Weyl tensor

$$\delta C^{(\mathcal{A})}_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = 0 \tag{5.22}$$

vanishes for scalar gravitational waves. The Riemann tensor perturbations (5.21) may be used to compute the effect of the scalar gravitational wave on test masses in a detector. The contractions of (5.21) are

$$\delta R_{tt}^{(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{2G}{3r} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \vec{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.23a}$$

$$\delta R_{it}^{(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{2G}{3r} \,\hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \ddot{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{5.23b}$$

$$\delta R_{ij}^{(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{2G}{3r} \,\hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \hat{\mathbf{r}}_j \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \ddot{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x})$$
(5.23c)

$$\delta R^{(\mathcal{A})} = 0 \tag{5.23d}$$

and for time harmonic sources (5.13) in the radiation zone we may make the replacement

$$\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, \ddot{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \to -\omega^2 \, e^{-i\omega(t-r)} \, \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\omega | \hat{\mathbf{r}}) \tag{5.24}$$

in (5.21) and (5.23), with $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\omega|\hat{\mathbf{r}})$ defined by (5.14), and the Real Part is understood.

Whereas the tensor perturbations \mathcal{H}_{ij}^{\perp} have vanishing linearized Ricci tensor, but nonvanishing linearized Weyl tensor, befitting a spin-2 tensor gravitational wave, the scalar gravitational waves $\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C$ generated by the trace anomaly have non-vanishing Ricci tensor (5.23), but vanishing Weyl tensor (5.22). Both scalar and tensor waves fall off as 1/r from a distant source, with the anomaly monopolar source \mathcal{A} in (5.12) taking the place of the transverse, traceless tensor source T_{ij}^{\perp} in (5.16).

6 Energy and power radiated in scalar gravitational waves

The terms linear in φ and the metric perturbation around flat space $h_{\mu\nu}$ in the EFT give rise to scalar gravitational waves. As in the case of tensor perturbations in Einstein's theory, it is necessary to consider the quadratic terms in the expansion around flat space in order to compute the energy and power radiated by these waves. These quadratic terms arise from (2.18) in three possible ways:

- A. Quadratic terms in $h_{\mu\nu}$ in the Einstein-Hilbert action and effective stress tensor;
- **B.** Mixed terms linear in each of $h_{\mu\nu}$ and φ in the anomaly action and stress tensor;
- **C.** Quadratic terms in φ , but lowest order in the metric in the anomaly action and stress tensor.

A. Einstein-Hilbert quadratic terms

The terms of the first kind are of the same origin as in classical General Relativity (albeit in the scalar sector), and are encapsulated in the expansion of the Ricci tensor

$$R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\alpha}\Gamma^{(2)\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\Gamma^{(2)\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha} + \Gamma^{(1)\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}\Gamma^{(1)\beta}_{\ \alpha\beta} - \Gamma^{(1)\alpha}_{\ \mu\beta}\Gamma^{(1)\beta}_{\ \alpha\nu}$$
(6.1)

to second order in the metric perturbation (4.1). Here $\Gamma^{(\ell)\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is the Christoffel connection at order ℓ . In accordance with the Brill-Hartle-Isaacson averaging procedure for gravitational waves of small amplitude and wavelength much shorter than any background curvature radius [62–65], one can ignore total derivatives in the stress tensor such as the first two terms in (6.1). Substituting the expression

$$\Gamma^{(1)\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{\nu} h^{\alpha}_{\ \mu} + \partial_{\mu} h^{\alpha}_{\ \mu} - \partial^{\alpha} h^{\mu\nu} \right) \tag{6.2}$$

for the expansion of the Christoffel connection to the first order into (6.1) one obtains

$$\langle R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} \rangle = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{(\mu}h)(\partial_{\alpha}h^{\alpha}_{\ \nu)}) - \frac{1}{4} (\partial_{\alpha}h)(\partial^{\alpha}h_{\mu\nu}) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial^{\beta}h^{\alpha}_{\ \mu})(\partial_{\beta}h_{\nu\alpha}) - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\alpha}h^{\alpha}_{\ \mu})(\partial_{\beta}h^{\beta}_{\ \nu}) - \frac{1}{4} (\partial_{\mu}h^{\alpha\beta})(\partial_{\nu}h_{\alpha\beta}) \right\rangle$$

$$(6.3a)$$

$$\langle R^{(2)} \rangle = \left\langle -h^{\mu\nu} R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} + \eta^{\mu\nu} R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} \right\rangle$$

= $\left\langle \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\alpha} h^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda}) (\partial_{\beta} h^{\beta\lambda}) - \frac{1}{4} (\partial_{\lambda} h^{\alpha\beta}) (\partial^{\lambda} h_{\alpha\beta}) - \frac{1}{4} (\partial_{\alpha} h) (\partial^{\alpha} h) \right\rangle$ (6.3b)

where all indices are raised and lowered with the flat space Minkowski metric, $h \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}$, integration by parts has been used freely under the averaging brackets, and $R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \delta R_{\mu\nu}$ to first order in the metric perturbation is given by (4.27) with $R^{(1)} \equiv \delta R = 0$ by (4.30).

The contribution of this first (\mathbf{A}) set of terms to the effective energy-momentum tensor of gravitational waves is the negative of the second order Einstein tensor and thus given by

$$-\frac{1}{8\pi G}\left\langle G^{(2)}_{\mu\nu}\right\rangle = -\frac{1}{8\pi G}\left\langle R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}R^{(2)}\right\rangle = -\frac{1}{8\pi G}\left\langle R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu}\right\rangle$$
(6.4)

where the second equality follows by substituting the covariant metric decomposition (4.3), retaining only the w and h terms for scalar perturbations, so that

$$\langle R^{(2)} \rangle = -\frac{3}{32} \Big\langle (\partial_{\alpha} h)(\partial^{\alpha} h) - 2(\partial_{\alpha} h)(\partial^{\alpha} \Box w) + (\partial_{\alpha} \Box w)(\partial^{\alpha} \Box w) \Big\rangle$$

= $\frac{3}{32} \Big\langle (h - \Box w) \Box (h - \Box w) \Big\rangle = 0$ (6.5)

after integration by parts and use of the eq. of motion (4.15). The same substitution in the second order Ricci tensor gives after some algebra

$$\langle R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} \rangle = \left\langle -\frac{3}{32} \partial_{\mu} (h - \Box w) \partial_{\nu} (h - \Box w) + \frac{1}{8} (\partial_{\mu} h) (\partial_{\nu} h) - \frac{1}{8} (\partial_{\mu} \Box w) (\partial_{\nu} \Box w) \right\rangle$$
(6.6)

which is non-vanishing but also not manifestly gauge invariant. This shows that contributions from the other sets of terms in \mathbf{B} (or \mathbf{C}) are needed.

B. Mixed terms linear in φ and the metric perturbation

The terms in the anomaly stress-energy tensor which are linear in the scalar conformalon field φ are given by terms linear in φ in (3.2) together with (3.3). Expanding these terms to first order in the metric perturbation from flat space gives

$$T^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}[\varphi] = -4(b+b') C^{(1)\alpha}_{(\mu-\nu)} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} \varphi + b' \left\{ \frac{2}{3} \Gamma^{(1)\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\alpha} \Box \varphi - 4 R^{(1)\alpha}_{(\mu} \partial_{\nu)} \partial_{\alpha} \varphi + \frac{8}{3} R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} \Box \varphi \right. \\ \left. + \frac{2}{3} \eta_{\mu\nu} \left[(\Box^2)^{(1)} \varphi + 3 R^{(1)\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} \varphi \right] \right\}$$
(6.7)

where (4.30) has again been used, and terms involving the \mathcal{L}_i terms in the anomaly stress tensor have been dropped, under the assumption that in free space in vacuo there are no background fields.

The first order metric variation of the scalar \Box^2 operator is

$$(\Box^2)^{(1)}\varphi = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\alpha} h)(\partial^{\alpha} \Box \varphi) + \dots = -\frac{1}{2} h (\Box^2 \varphi) + \dots$$
(6.8)

where the ellipsis involves total derivative terms that vanish when substituted into (6.7) and averaged, and the eq. of motion for φ (4.30) is used. Likewise since the first order metric variations of the Weyl tensor can be expressed in terms of the first order variations of the Riemann and Ricci tensors, and these are given in terms of $h - \Box w$ by (4.7), it follows again by integration by parts and repeated use of the eq. of motion (4.15) that

all these first order curvature terms in (6.7) vanish upon averaging. Hence the only term in (6.7) which survives upon averaging is

$$\langle T^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}[\varphi] \rangle = \frac{2b'}{3} \Big\langle \Gamma^{(1)\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \,\partial_{\alpha} \,\Box \,\varphi \Big\rangle = \frac{2b'}{3} \Big\langle (\partial_{\alpha} h^{\alpha}_{\ (\mu)})(\partial_{\nu}) \,\Box \,\varphi) \Big\rangle = \frac{b'}{6} \Big\langle \partial_{(\mu}(h+3 \,\Box \,w)(\partial_{\nu}) \,\Box \,\varphi) \Big\rangle \tag{6.9}$$

for scalar perturbations. Substituting for $\Box \varphi$ from (4.13) and again freely integrating by parts under the averaging brackets gives

$$\langle T^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}[\varphi] \rangle = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \left\langle \frac{1}{16} \partial_{\mu} (h - \Box w) \partial_{\nu} (h - \Box w) + \frac{1}{4} (\partial_{(\mu} h) (\partial_{\nu)} \Box w) - \frac{1}{4} (\partial_{(\mu} \Box w) (\partial_{\nu)} \Box w) \right\rangle$$

$$\tag{6.10}$$

which when added to (6.4) and using (6.6) gives the simple result

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{SGW} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \frac{1}{32} \left\langle \partial_{\mu} (h - \Box w) \partial_{\nu} (h - \Box w) \right\rangle = \frac{16\pi G b^{\prime 2}}{9} \left\langle (\partial_{\mu} \Box \varphi) (\partial_{\nu} \Box \varphi) \right\rangle$$
(6.11)

whose gauge invariance furnishes a useful check of the calculations.

C. Terms quadratic in φ

Since the conformation field φ is itself first order in the metric perturbations from flat space, the φ quadratic terms in its stress-energy tensor $T_{\mu\nu}[\varphi]$ may be evaluated in flat space, and are given by (4.9)–(4.10) to be

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{(2)}[\varphi] = b' \left\langle -2 \left(\partial_{(\mu}\varphi)(\partial_{\nu}) \Box \varphi \right) + 2 \left(\Box \varphi \right) (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\varphi) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{2}{3} \left(\partial_{\alpha}\varphi \right) (\partial^{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\varphi) - \frac{4}{3} \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha}\varphi \right) (\partial_{\nu}\partial^{\alpha}\varphi) \right\rangle \\ \left. - \frac{b'}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} \left\langle \left(\Box \varphi \right)^{2} \right\rangle = 2b' \left\langle \left(\Box \varphi \right) (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\varphi) \right\rangle \right\rangle$$
(6.12)

where as before integration by parts and the eq. of motion $\Box^2 \varphi = 0$ outside all sources have been used freely under the Brill-Hartle-Isaacson wave averaging brackets. Substituting (5.10)–(5.11) gives

$$\begin{pmatrix} T_{tt}^{(2)}[\varphi] \\ T_{ti}^{(2)}[\varphi] \\ T_{ij}^{(2)}[\varphi] \end{pmatrix} \to -\frac{2b'}{r} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -\hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \\ \hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \hat{\mathbf{r}}_j \end{pmatrix} \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\int d^3 \mathbf{x} J(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \right)^2 \right\rangle = 0$$
 (6.13)

for each of the components of this tensor in the far field radiation zone, when averaged over time. Thus there are no contributions to the stress-energy of scalar gravitational waves from the third set (**C**) of terms quadratic in the φ in perturbations about flat space. These terms are associated instead with non-wavelike or near field effects of the anomaly sources for φ . Contributions from the Weyl invariant terms (2.11), if present, are also of this kind. The stress-energy carried by scalar gravitational waves due to the conformal anomaly is given therefore by the sum of (\mathbf{A}) and (\mathbf{B}) terms only in (6.11). Note that this stress-energy is conserved and the energy density is *positive*:

$$T_{tt}^{SGW} = \frac{16\pi G b^{\prime 2}}{9} \left\langle (\Box \dot{\varphi})^2 \right\rangle \ge 0 \tag{6.14}$$

so there is no linear instability. The outward flux from the localized sources considered in section 5 is

$$T_{i}^{t_{SGW}} = \frac{16\pi G b^{\prime 2}}{9} \,\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{i} \left\langle (\Box \dot{\varphi})^{2} \right\rangle$$
$$= \frac{G}{36\pi} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{i}}{r^{2}} \left\langle \left(\int d^{3} \mathbf{x} \,\dot{\mathcal{A}}(\tilde{t}, \mathbf{x}) \right)^{2} \right\rangle$$
(6.15)

in the far field radiation zone. Thus for time harmonic anomaly sources (5.13) the power radiated by scalar gravitational radiation per unit solid angle in the direction $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is

$$\left(\frac{dP}{d\Omega}\right)_{\!\!SGW} = r^2 \,\hat{\mathbf{r}}_i \, T_i^{t\,SGW} = \frac{G\,\omega^2}{72\pi c^5} \left|\tilde{A}(\omega|\hat{\mathbf{r}})\right|^2 = \frac{G\,\omega^2}{72\pi c^5} \left|\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \, e^{-i\omega\hat{\mathbf{r}}\cdot\mathbf{x}/c} \mathcal{A}_\omega(\mathbf{x})\right|^2 \tag{6.16}$$

after time averaging, and the factors of c have been re-inserted.

Note that the multipole expansion of (6.16) obtained by expanding the exponential in powers of $(\omega \hat{\mathbf{r}} \cdot \mathbf{x}/c)$ begins with a monopole term, unlike that of transverse, tracefree gravitational waves in the classical Einstein theory, whose lowest order multipole is a quadrupole (5.18). In the monopole approximation the total power radiated in scalar gravitational radiation is

$$P_{SGW} \simeq P_{SGW} \Big|_{\text{monopole}} = \frac{G\omega^2}{18c^5} \left| \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{A}_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) \right|^2 \tag{6.17}$$

which may be compared to the lowest order multipole tensor radiation formula in Einstein's theory

$$P_{TGW} \simeq P_{TGW} \big|_{\text{quadrupole}} = \frac{2G\omega^6}{5c^9} \big| \mathbb{Q}_{ij}(\omega) \big|^2 \tag{6.18}$$

in terms of the quadrupole moment (5.19) of the classical stress tensor of the source. Thus the power radiated in scalar radiation is enhanced relative to that of transverse radiation by a factor of $(\omega a/c)^4$, but is suppressed by the weakness of the conformal anomaly stressenergy tensor source \mathcal{A} compared to strictly classical sources. In the next section possible astrophysical sources of scalar gravitational waves are considered and the amplitude and power radiated for these sources estimated.

7 Astrophysical sources of scalar gravitational waves

The typical curvature invariant in the vicinity of a completely collapsed star is of order

$$R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = \frac{48(GM)^2}{r^6} \le \frac{3}{4(GM)^4}$$
(7.1)

at the star's Schwarzschild radius. This corresponds to a very small energy density of

$$\rho_{R^2} = 5 \times 10^{-38} \left(\frac{M_{\odot}}{M}\right)^4 \text{erg/cm}^3.$$
 (7.2)

Substituting this source of scalar gravitational waves into (5.12) gives gravitational potentials

$$\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C \simeq -\frac{Gb'}{3r} \frac{4\pi (2GM)^3}{3} \frac{3}{4(GM)^4} = -\frac{8\pi b'}{3Mr} \simeq 10^{-91} \left(\frac{|b'|}{\hbar}\right) \left(\frac{M_{\odot}}{M}\right) \left(\frac{\mathrm{kpc}}{r}\right) \quad (7.3)$$

far below any possibility of direct detection. The reason for such enormous suppression from curvature sources is essentially the same factor of $\hbar GR \sim (M_{Pl}/M)^2$ in the quantum anomaly effective action relative to the classical Einstein-Hilbert action as that which appears in local EFT treatments. For this reason also the effects of the curvature squared terms in the anomaly EFT are far too small to be observed in weak gravitational fields, such as that of the existing binary or double pulsar tests of GR. As a consequence the anomaly EFT (2.18) easily passes these observational tests.

The possibility of much larger effects arise only when one considers the non-curvature gauge field sources in the trace anomaly. The electromagnetic trace anomaly becomes relevant above the two-electron mass-energy threshold $2m_ec^2 \simeq 1.02 \text{ MeV}$, and the QCD anomaly at least above the light u and d quark mass-energy thresholds of approximately 10 MeV. These require very high energy astrophysical environments, but energy scales still very far below the Planck energy scale, where the EFT defined by (2.18) should be reliable.

In the QED case, highly magnetized neutron stars ('magnetars') are believed to have magnetic fields up to 10^{15} Gauss, which exceeds the electrodynamic critical field of $B_c \simeq 4 \times 10^{13}$ Gauss corresponding to $2m_ec^2$ [66]. Taking into account the coefficient of the trace anomaly in QED, the magnetar field provides a source of scalar gravitational waves of strength

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm mag} = -\frac{e^2}{24\pi^2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\alpha B^2}{3\pi} \simeq 8 \times 10^{26} \left(\frac{B}{10^{15} \,\rm Gauss}\right)^2 \rm erg/cm^3 \tag{7.4}$$

Since a typical neutron star radius is 12 km, the maximum volume over which this energy density applies is of order 7×10^{18} cm³, giving a total magnetic field energy of order of 6×10^{45} ergs. The scalar gravitational wave produced at a distance r from such a highly magnetized source has magnitude

$$\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C \simeq -\frac{G}{3rc^4} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{A}_{\text{mag}} \lesssim 5 \times 10^{-26} \left(\frac{\text{kpc}}{r}\right) \,. \tag{7.5}$$

The estimate (7.5) is many orders of magnitude greater than (7.3) but still several orders of magnitude below the sensitivity of present gravitational wave detectors. When the electron mass is not neglected, because of decoupling of the triangle diagram responsible for the QED trace anomaly, \mathcal{A}_{mag} is suppressed by a factor of order $(\hbar\omega/m_ec^2)^2$ where ω is a characteristic frequency of time variation of the electromagnetic field strength [28–30]. Thus (7.5), small as it is, will be suppressed further as a source of scalar gravitational radiation for more slowly varying magnetic fields, for weaker fields, or for strong fields exceeding the critical field but extending only over smaller volumes.

This suppression due to decoupling of the anomaly at low frequencies is also the reason why the power radiated in scalar gravitational waves is negligible compared to classical quadrupolar radiation in binary pulsar systems, such as the Hulse-Taylor binary and double pulsar. For the double pulsar the orbital period of 2.454 hours gives an angular frequency $\omega \simeq 7.11 \times 10^{-4}$ sec [67]. This gives a suppression factor in the anomaly source \mathcal{A} of $(\hbar\omega/m_ec^2)^2 \simeq 2.10 \times 10^{-49}$, which enters the scalar power radiated (6.17) squared. Taking all the factors in (6.17) into account gives a total power emitted in scalar radiation of order

$$\left(\frac{dE}{dt}\right)_{\text{scalar}} \sim \frac{1}{8\left(4\pi b'\right)} \left[\int d^3 \mathbf{x} \left(\frac{\alpha B^2}{3\pi}\right)\right]^2 \left(\frac{\hbar\,\omega}{m_e c^2}\right)^4 \sim 1.1 \times 10^{12} \,\text{erg/sec}$$
(7.6)

where a magnetic field of 2×10^{12} Gauss was assumed and the value of b' from (1.4b) was used with $N_v = 1$ for the electromagnetic field. In principle the energy radiated in scalar gravitational waves will cause the orbit of the double pulsar to decay and its orbital period to decrease, above the decrease predicted due to quadrupolar radiation in Einstein's classical theory. However the comparable estimate for classical transverse tensor gravitational radiation from the same double pulsar system is of order 4×10^{32} erg/sec. Thus the effect of the additional scalar radiation is smaller than one part in 10^{20} in this system, and completely negligible. The effect in the Hulse-Taylor binary pulsar is even smaller. Although a more accurate analysis is called for, these rough estimates indicate that the anomaly EFT will easily pass all existing pulsar tests from electromagnetic sources

The most promising source for generating scalar gravitational waves in significant and potentially detectable quantities is the $SU(3)_{color}$ trace anomaly

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm QCD} = (11N_c - 2N_f) \frac{\alpha_s}{24\pi} G^a_{\mu\nu} G^{a\mu\nu} \simeq -4.8 \times 10^{36} \, \rm{erg/cm}^3 \tag{7.7}$$

for $N_c = 3$ colors and $N_f = 2$ light fermion species, where the last value is that of an effective bag 'constant' of $\rho_{\text{bag}} = -p_{\text{bag}} \simeq 750 \text{ Mev/fm}^3$ in nuclear matter [68]. The chemical potential dependence of the bag 'constant' of dense nuclear matter has been estimated, with values of the QCD trace anomaly similar to or even higher than (7.7) possible at baryon chemical potentials of $\mu \simeq 1.6$ GeV thought to exist in neutron star cores [69]. This energy density is more than 10 orders of magnitude larger than the QED value in a strong magnetar field (7.4), and thus capable in principle of producing scalar gravitational waves 10 orders of magnitude larger than (7.5), potentially within the detectable range.

As with the QED source, an important caveat for this estimate is that the QCD gauge field anomaly proportional to $N_f = 2$ is a source for the scalar gravitational waves only to the extent that light u and d quark masses of 5 to 10 MeV can be neglected. This corresponds to a nuclear time scale of 7×10^{-23} sec., or nuclear distance scales of 20 Fermi. Gluonic vacuum fluctuations responsible for the $N_c = 3$ in (7.7) are presumably likewise suppressed on distance and time scales larger than the confinement scale of a few Fermi. For lower energy processes, neither the light quarks nor the gluons can be treated as massless fields, and the QCD trace anomaly $\mathcal{A}_{\rm QCD}$ will be suppressed by a factor of order $(\hbar\omega/m_{\pi}c^2)^2$, by non-perturbative effects of confinement. At these lower energies and frequencies, one should use the low energy meson EFT of the strong interactions, rather than the QCD anomaly.

The most vigorous disturbance of the QCD gluonic vacuum which can excite this astrophysical source of the conformal anomaly is in the initial formation of the neutron star (NS), or its collision, coalescence and merger with another compact stellar object. In such processes density estimates such as (7.7) may be applicable. Thus the scalar gravitational wave amplitude from neutron star formation or binary coalescence is estimated to be

$$\Upsilon_A = \Upsilon_C \simeq -\frac{G}{3rc^4} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{A}_{NS} \,\eta \simeq 3 \times 10^{-21} \left(\frac{100 \,\mathrm{Mpc}}{r}\right) \,\eta \tag{7.8}$$

where $\eta < 1$ is volume fraction of the neutron star in which the gluonic condensate is excited by high energy interactions above the QCD deconfinement threshold (~ 165 MeV) in the formation or coalescence event.

Clearly more careful estimates are needed, and will require detailed modeling of the time dependence of the nuclear constituents and gluonic condensate in realistic neutron star formation and merger events. Still, the signal generated by a time dependent QCD trace anomaly by nuclear matter in a NS formation or merger event is almost certainly the strongest astrophysical source of scalar gravitational waves, potentially detectable by present or planned gravitational wave detectors, meriting such a detailed study. If NS binary coalescence events are the sources of detectable scalar gravitational radiation, this emission should follow closely upon transverse, traceless GW emission from binary inspiral, suggesting the time co-incidence study of production of both GW polarizarization states by the same event(s) may be a promising observational strategy. Conversely, non-detection of scalar gravitational waves from NS or black hole candidate coalescence events could provide potentially interesting constraints on nuclear equations of state and/or the mechanisms of gravitational wave generation by the QCD trace anomaly.

8 Summary and outlook

In this paper the extension and modification of Einstein's theory of classical General Relativity by the infrared relevant effects of the conformal trace anomaly have been analyzed in the near flat space limit. The effective action (2.18) due to the quantum effects of the anomaly defines the low energy EFT of gravity with an additional scalar field. The scalar field φ is called a *conformalon* because it is closely related to and mixes with the conformal mode of the usual spacetime metric, making it dynamical. Although reminiscent of the scalar-tensor theory introduced by Fierz, Jordan, Brans and Dicke [51–54], (2.18) is quite different in several important respects, foremost among them that it its exact form is dictated by the known quantum effect of the conformal anomaly in QFT. As such the EFT presented here does not fall into the class of scalar-tensor theories or effective field theories of scalars or modified gravity theories usually considered [55]. Most notably, the scalar φ does not couple directly to the trace of the matter stress tensor, but only to higher order curvature invariants E, C^2 of (1.3), or the gauge field scalars such as $F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$ or $G^a_{\mu\nu}G^{a\,\mu\nu}$. This feature of the scalar conformalon most clearly distinguishing it from other possible scalar dilaton-like degrees of freedom or other modified gravity theories is a result of the Wess-Zumino consistency relation (2.16) derived from the conformal anomaly (2.6)-(2.7), which strictly constrains the form of the effective action.

The equations of the resulting semi-classical EFT are Einstein's eqs. (3.7) with an additional covariantly conserved source $T_{\mu\nu}[\varphi]$, (3.1)–(3.3) of the scalar conformalon field describing certain quantum vacuum effects of the trace anomaly, supplemented by the eq. of motion (2.13) for this field itself. Linearized around flat spacetime with $\varphi = 0$, the EFT describes scalar gravitational waves, in addition to the tensorial transverse, traceless waves of the linearized Einstein theory. Although the anomaly EFT has a fourth order differential operator and φ solves $\Box^2 \varphi = 0$, only the half of these solutions with $\Box \varphi \neq 0$ couple to the gauge invariant scalar gravitational metric perturbations through (4.33). The other half of the solutions to (2.13) satisfying $\Box \varphi = 0$ are a passive fixed background which are not coupled to the metric and do not contribute to scalar gravitational radiation at linearized order. This is a very important consideration relevant to the stability of the EFT and any controversy or related difficulties encountered with local higher derivative theories. In particular there is no linearized instability of flat space in the anomaly EFT, requiring the discarding of high frequency or 'runaway' solutions as there is in higher derivative local theories of gravity with R^2 or C^2 terms [75–78].

Since the anomaly effective action is quadratic in φ the excluded half of the solutions of the fourth order linear eq. of motion (2.13) cannot couple to the spacetime metric except through the non-linear terms in the usual Einstein-Hilbert action of General Relativity itself, through their mutual gravitational interaction. These interactions are naturally suppressed by the weakness of the gravitational coupling G, which must come together with some energy scale squared for dimensional reasons. Since around flat spacetime the only energy scale available is that of the perturbations, one must expect the other half of the solutions of the fourth order anomaly EFT to couple only when their energy scale approaches the Planck energy of 10^{19} GeV, by which point the EFT approach to gravity has clearly broken down. In curved spacetime backgrounds possessing additional length scales or horizons, the breakdown of the EFT approach may occur at lower energy scales, such as in the vicinity of horizons [39, 58]. Issues arising from fourth order anomaly effective action (2.14) including the quantization and Hamiltonian of the conformalon field will be taken up in a separate publication, inasmuch as they do not affect the conclusions of scalar gravitational waves with classical gauge invariant potentials obeying the second order eq. (4.34). Clearly the full treatment of the anomaly quantum effective theory is required to settle all questions of the fourth order theory in either its local or non-local form.

When localized sources for the scalar gravitational waves are considered, the scalar metric perturbations have a monopole form, falling off with distance from the source as 1/r according to (5.12), or (5.15) for time harmonic sources. The corresponding linearized Riemann tensor components for scalar gravitational waves needed for the response of test masses in GW detectors are given by eqs. (5.21). The energy flux and power emitted per unit solid angle in scalar gravitational waves are given in the EFT by (6.16), or (6.17) in the monopole approximation.

Although all possible terms in the trace anomaly \mathcal{A} can act as sources for the scalar conformalon field and therefore scalar gravitational radiation, the higher derivative curvature sources are far too small to contribute appreciably. The electromagnetic trace anomaly of QED is much larger but still very likely too weak to produce observable scalar GWs or indirect effects, such as energy loss from even the most highly magnetized objects known. Thus the EFT associated with the conformal anomaly easily passes all present observational tests from the binary and double pulsar systems.

The most promising non-negligible sources of scalar gravitational waves in the EFT are those due to the QCD trace anomaly, excited in neutron star formation, or binary coalescence with another NS or other collapsed star. In such systems the rough preliminary estimate (7.8) indicates that scalar gravitational radiation may be produced with large enough amplitude to be observed by present and future planned GW detectors as a burst event. The power radiated in scalar gravitational waves from the QCD anomaly is potentially many orders of magnitude larger than (7.6) from strong magnetic sources, but as proportional to a factor $\eta^2 < 1$ subject to considerable uncertainty. A more careful quantitative calculation of the sources of scalar GWs in NS merger events is clearly warranted, with the development of detailed models of the scalar waveforms expected in the EFT of gravity as now becoming available in standard GR [72]. Even at this preliminary stage an open search for scalar 'breather mode' gravitational waves by present and future detectors is indicated [73, 74], with a search strategy for burst events coincident with inspirals producing transverse, traceless GWs seeming to be the most promising approach.

Energy densities as large as (7.7) from strong interactions and the QCD trace anomaly also imply that the non-linear effects on the geometry of the anomaly stress-energy tensor, neglected in the present analysis around flat space, should be taken into account in a fully consistent treatment. These non-linear effects of the anomaly stress-energy may be comparable in importance to classical GR effects in the final stages of NS inspiral and coalescence with a second compact object, either itself another NS or a black hole/gravastar candidate [70, 71]. The gravastar alternative to black holes may also be a source of scalar radiation through its interior scalar condensate being partly composed of and coupled to gluonic degrees of freedom in QCD.

In the early universe when temperatures and energies greater than 165 MeV were reached, the QCD anomaly was fully unsuppressed. Thus these epochs up to the QCD phase transition, or at even higher energies the electroweak phase transition are possible sources of a cosmological stochastic background of scalar gravitational radiation, albeit in lower frequency ranges, potentially detectable by the next generation of space-based gravitational wave detectors, such as LISA.

Acknowledgments

The author gratefully acknowledges conversations with R. Vaulin at the initial stages of this work, and P. R. Anderson for careful reading of the manuscript. This work was supported in part by a grant from the Center for Space and Earth Science (CSES) of Los Alamos National Laboratory.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] A. Einstein, Approximative integration of the field equations of gravitation, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) (1916) 688 [INSPIRE].
- [2] A. Einstein, Über Gravitationswellen (in German), Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) (1918) 154 [INSPIRE].
- [3] B. S. Sathyaprakash and B. F. Schutz, Physics, astrophysics and cosmology with gravitational waves, Living Rev. Rel. 12 (2009) 2.
- [4] VIRGO and LIGO SCIENTIFIC collaborations, B.P. Abbott et al., Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102
 [arXiv:1602.03837] [INSPIRE].
- [5] ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1
 [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [6] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [7] N.D. Birrell and P.C.W. Davies, *Quantum fields in curved space*, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge U.K., (1982) [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Weinberg, Effective gauge theories, Phys. Lett. **91B** (1980) 51 [INSPIRE].
- [9] J. Gasser and H. Leutwyler, Chiral perturbation theory to one loop, Annals Phys. 158 (1984) 142 [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Gasser and H. Leutwyler, Chiral perturbation theory: expansions in the mass of the strange quark, Nucl. Phys. B 250 (1985) 465 [INSPIRE].
- [11] H. Leutwyler, On the foundations of chiral perturbation theory, Annals Phys. 235 (1994) 165 [hep-ph/9311274] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A.V. Manohar, Effective field theories, Lect. Notes Phys. 479 (1997) 311 [hep-ph/9606222]
 [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Pich, Effective field theory: course, hep-ph/9806303 [INSPIRE].
- [14] C.P. Burgess, Introduction to effective field theory, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 57 (2007) 329
 [hep-th/0701053] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A.M.J. Schakel, Boulevard of broken symmetries: effective field theories of condensed matter, World Scientific, Singapore, (2008) [INSPIRE].
- [16] J.F. Donoghue, E. Golowich and B.R. Holstein, Dynamics of the Standard Model, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge U.K., (1992) [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Weinberg, The quantum theory of fields, vol. II, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge U.K., (1996) [INSPIRE].
- [18] T. Appelquist and J. Carazzone, Infrared singularities and massive fields, Phys. Rev. D 11 (1975) 2856.

- [19] J.F. Donoghue, General relativity as an effective field theory: the leading quantum corrections, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 3874.
- [20] C.P. Burgess, Quantum gravity in everyday life: general relativity as an effective field theory, Living Rev. Rel. 7 (2004) 5.
- [21] B.S. DeWitt, Dynamic theory of groups and fields, Gordon & Breach, New York U.S.A., (1965).
- [22] G. 't Hooft, An algorithm for the poles at dimension four in the dimensional regularization procedure, Nucl. Phys. B 62 (1973) 444 [INSPIRE].
- [23] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, One loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation, Ann. Poincaré Phys. Theor. A 20 (1974) 69 [INSPIRE].
- [24] D.G. Boulware, Gauge dependence of the effective action, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 389.
- [25] L.F. Abbott, Introduction to the background field method, Acta Phys. Polon. B 13 (1982) 33 [INSPIRE].
- [26] S.L. Adler, Axial-vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2426.
- [27] R. Jackiw, Field theoretic investigations in current algebra, in Lectures on current algebra and its applications, S.B. Treiman, R. Jackiw and D.J. Gross eds., Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton U.S.A., (1972).
- [28] M. Giannotti and E. Mottola, Trace anomaly and massless scalar degrees of freedom in gravity, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 045014.
- [29] R. Armillis, C. Corianò and L. Delle Rose, Anomaly poles as common signatures of chiral and conformal anomalies, Phys. Lett. B 682 (2009) 322 [arXiv:0909.4522] [INSPIRE].
- [30] R. Armillis, C. Corianò and L. Delle Rose, Conformal anomalies and the gravitational effective action: the TJJ correlator for a Dirac fermion, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 085001
 [arXiv:0910.3381] [INSPIRE].
- [31] G 't Hooft et al. eds., Recent developments in gauge theories, Plenum, New York U.S.A., (1980) reprinted in E. Farhi and R. Jackiw eds., Dynamical gauge symmetry breaking, World Scientific, Singapore, (1982) [INSPIRE].
- [32] P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Weyl cohomology and the effective action for conformal anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 104022.
- [33] D.M. Capper and M.J. Duff, Trace anomalies in dimensional regularization, Nuovo Cim. A 23 (1974) 173 [INSPIRE].
- [34] D.M. Capper and M.J. Duff, Conformal anomalies and the renormalizability problem in quantum gravity, Phys. Lett. A 53 (1975) 361 [INSPIRE].
- [35] S. Deser, M.J. Duff and C.J. Isham, Nonlocal conformal anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B 111 (1976) 45 [INSPIRE].
- [36] M.J. Duff, Observations on conformal anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B 125 (1977) 334 [INSPIRE].
- [37] L. Álvarez-Gaumé and E. Witten, Gravitational anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B 234 (1984) 269 [INSPIRE].
- [38] M.J. Duff, Twenty years of the Weyl anomaly, Class. Quant. Grav. 11 (1994) 1387
 [hep-th/9308075] [INSPIRE].

- [39] E. Mottola and R. Vaulin, Macroscopic effects of the quantum trace anomaly, Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 064004.
- [40] E. Mottola, New horizons in gravity: the trace anomaly, dark energy and condensate stars, Acta Phys. Polon. B 41 (2010) 2031 [arXiv:1008.5006] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R.J. Riegert, A nonlocal action for the trace anomaly, Phys. Lett. **134B** (1984) 56 [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Paneitz, A quartic conformally covariant differential operator for arbitrary pseudo-Riemannian manifolds, MIT preprint, U.S.A., (1983).
- [43] R.B. Mann and D.E. Vincent, Radiation and five-dimensional cosmology, Phys. Lett. A 107 (1985) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [44] T.P. Branson, Differential operators cononically associated to a conformal structure, Math. Scand. 57 (1985) 293.
- [45] I. Antoniadis and E. Mottola, Four-dimensional quantum gravity in the conformal sector, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 2013.
- [46] J. Wess and B. Zumino, Consequences of anomalous Ward identities, Phys. Lett. 37B (1971) 95 [INSPIRE].
- [47] I. Antoniadis, P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Conformal symmetry and central charges in four-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 388 (1992) 627 [hep-th/9205015] [INSPIRE].
- [48] I.L. Shapiro and A.G. Zheksenaev, *Gauge dependence in higher derivative quantum gravity* and the conformal anomaly problem, *Phys. Lett.* **B 324** (1994) 286 [INSPIRE].
- [49] C. Corianò, M.M. Maglio and E. Mottola, TTT in CFT: trace identities and the conformal anomaly effective action, submitted to JHEP [arXiv:1703.08860] [INSPIRE].
- [50] D.N. Blaschke, R. Carballo-Rubio and E. Mottola, Fermion pairing and the scalar boson of the 2D conformal anomaly, JHEP 12 (2014) 153 [arXiv:1407.8523] [INSPIRE].
- [51] P. Jordan, Schmerkruft und Weltall (in German), F. Vieweg and Sohn, Brannschweig Germany, (1955).
- [52] P. Jordan, Zum gegenwärtigen Stand der Diracschen kosmologischen Hypothesen (in German), Z. Physik 157 (1959) 112.
- [53] M. Fierz, On the physical interpretation of P. Jordan's extended theory of gravitation, Helv. Phys. Acta 29 (1956) 128 [INSPIRE].
- [54] C. Brans and R.H. Dicke, Mach's principle and a relativistic theory of gravitation, Phys. Rev. 124 (1961) 925.
- [55] C.M. Will, The confrontation between general relativity and experiment, Living Rev. Rel. 17 (2014) 4.
- [56] I. Antoniadis, P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Quantum diffeomorphisms and conformal symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 4756.
- [57] I. Antoniadis, P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Physical states of the quantum conformal factor, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 4770.
- [58] P.R. Anderson, C. Molina-París and E. Mottola, Cosmological horizon modes and linear response in de Sitter spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 084005.
- [59] M. Le Bellac, *Thermal field theory*, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge U.K., (1996).

- [60] J.M. Bardeen, Gauge-invariant cosmological perturbations, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 1882.
- [61] I.S. Gradshteyn and I.M. Ryzhik eds., Table of integrals, series, and products, Academic Press, New York U.S.A., (1980).
- [62] D.R. Brill and J.B. Hartle, Method of the self-consistent field in general relativity and its application to the gravitational geon, Phys. Rev. B 135 (1964) 271.
- [63] R.A. Isaacson, Gravitational radiation in the limit of high frequency I. The linear approximation and geometrical optics, Phys. Rev. 166 (1968) 1263.
- [64] R.A. Isaacson, Gravitational radiation in the limit of high frequency II. Nonlinear terms and the effective stress tensor, Phys. Rev. 166 (1968) 1272.
- [65] C.W. Misner, K.S. Thorne and J.A. Wheeler, *Gravitation*, W.H. Freeman & Co., San Francisco U.S.A., (1973).
- [66] C. Kouveliotou, R.C. Duncan and C. Thompson, Magnetars, Sci. Am. 288N2 (2003) 24 [INSPIRE].
- [67] A.G. Lyne et al., A double-pulsar system a rare laboratory for relativistic gravity and plasma physics, Science 303 (2004) 1153 [astro-ph/0401086] [INSPIRE].
- [68] E.S. Shuryak, *The QCD vacuum, hadrons and the superdense matter*, World Scientific, Singapore, (1988) [INSPIRE].
- [69] E.S. Fraga, A. Kurkela and A. Vuorinen, Neutron star structure from QCD, Eur. Phys. J. A 52 (2016) 49 [arXiv:1508.05019] [INSPIRE].
- [70] P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Gravitational condensate stars: an alternative to black holes, gr-qc/0109035 [INSPIRE].
- [71] P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Gravitational vacuum condensate stars, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 101 (2004) 9545 [gr-qc/0407075] [INSPIRE].
- [72] N. Cornish, L. Sampson, N. Yunes and F. Pretorius, Gravitational wave tests of general relativity with the parameterized post-Einsteinian framework, *Phys. Rev.* D 84 (2011) 062003.
- [73] M. Maggiore and A. Nicolis, Detection strategies for scalar gravitational waves with interferometers and resonant spheres, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 024004.
- [74] S. Capozziello and C. Corda, Scalar gravitational waves from scalar-tensor gravity: production and response of interferometers, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 15 (2006) 1119 [INSPIRE].
- [75] J.Z. Simon, Higher-derivative Lagrangians, nonlocality, problems, and solutions, Phys. Rev. D 41 (1990) 3720.
- [76] J.Z. Simon, Stability of flat space, semiclassical gravity, and higher derivatives, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 3308.
- [77] P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, The gravitational measure, solution of the conformal factor problem and stability of the ground state of quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 341 (1990) 187
 [INSPIRE].
- [78] P.R. Anderson, C. Molina-París and E. Mottola, Linear response, validity of semiclassical gravity, and the stability of flat space, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 024026.